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June 12, 2003

TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS:

This past year has been an important transitional year for Clarus as we closed one chapter in
the Company's history and embarked on a new mission fo redeploy the Company's assets to
maximize the value of your investment in Clarus.

Clarus began the year continuing its former business strategy as a developer and marketer
of Internet-based business-to-business software that automated the procurement, sourcing and
seftlement of goods and services. In early 2002, Clarus confinued to face a declining business in a
difficult economy and an industry weakened by dramatically lower budgets for information
technology.

At the Annual Meeting on May 21, 2002, our Stockholders elected a slate of directors
committed to divesting our e-commerce business and redeploying our substantial cash, cash
equivalents, and other assets through an acguisition of, or merger with, an operating business. Our
Board retained Morgan Joseph & Co. Inc., a middle-market focused investment bank, to assist the
Company in identifying and analyzing potential merger and acquisition candidates. If and when
acquired, this business is intended to serve as a platform company that will utilize our cash, other
non-operating assets (including, to the extent available, our net operating loss carry-forwards
{NOL's)) and our publicly tfraded stock to enhance future growth.

In December 2002, we sold substantially all of the operating assets related to our e-
commerce business and then closed our Suwanee, Georgia facility and opened a small
Greenwich, Connecticut office. We have reduced our cash operating expenditures by targeting,
to the extent practicable, our overhead expenses to the amount of our interest income until the
completion of an acquisition or merger. As of June 1, 2003 (after repayment in April 2003 of the
$5.0 million principal amount of our 4.5% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2005), we have cash
and marketable securities of approximately $89.2 million or $5.60 gross cash and securities per
share on a fully diluted basis.

Additiondlly, we are taking steps designed to protect our approximately $122.3 million of
NOL's, which can be substantially reduced or eliminated if Clarus undergoes an ownership
change through acqguisitions of an aggregate of 50% or more of our common stock by
stockholders or groups of stockholders treated as owning at least 5% of our common stock within @
three-year period. [n order to reduce the risk of such an ownership change, we have inciuded in
our 2003 Annual Proxy Statement a proposal to amend our Certificate of Incorporation to restrict
certain acquisitions affecting the percentage of our common stock treated as owned by 5%
stockholders. A complete discussion of the proposed changes to the Certificate of Incorporation
is included in our 2003 Annual Proxy Statement.

We are actively engaged in evaluating merger and acquisition candidates in a variety of
industries. As we look to the future, we are excited about prospects for enhancement of
stockholder value through implementation of our asset redeployment strategy.

Warren B. Kanders Nigel P. Ekern
Executive Chairman Chief Administrative Officer
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PART1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains certain forward-looking statements, including information about or related to our future results, certain
projections and business trends. Assumptions relating to forward-looking statements involve judgments with respect to, among other
things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to
predict accurately and many of which are beyond our control. When used in this report, the words “estimate,” “project,” “intend,”
“believe,” “expect” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Although we believe that our
assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements are reasonable, any or all of the assumptions could prove inaccurate, and we
may not realize the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements. Management decisions are subjective in many respects
and susceptible to interpretations and periodic revisions based upon actual experience and business developments, the impact of which
may cause us to alter our business strategy or capital expenditure plans that may, in turn, affect our results of operations. In light of the
significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking information included in this report, you should not regard the inclusion of
such information as our representation that we will achieve any strategy, objectives or other plans. The forward-looking statements
contained in this report speak only as of the date of this report, and we have no obligation to update publicly or revise any of these
forward-looking statements.

EEINTS

These and other statements, which are not historical facts, are based largely upon our current expectations and assumptions and
are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by such
forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, among others, our planned effort to redeploy our assets to enhance
stockholder value following the completion of the transaction with Epicor, and the risks and uncertainties set forth in the section
headed “Factors That May Affect Qur Future Results” of Part I of this Report and described in “Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of Part 11 of this Report. The Company cannot guarantee its future
performance.

Overview

Clarus Corporation (“Clarus” or the “Company,” which may be referred to as “we,” “us,” or “our”) was formerly a provider of e-
commerce business solutions until the sale of substantially all of its operating assets in December 2002. We are currently seeking to
redeploy our cash and cash equivalent assets to enhance stockholder value and are seeking, analyzing and evaluating potential
acquisition and merger candidates. We were incorporated in Delaware in 1991 under the name SQL Financials, Inc. In August 1998,
we changed our name to Clarus Corporation. Our principal corporate office is located at One Pickwick Plaza, Greenwich, Connecticut
06830 and our telephone number is (203) 302-2000.

Prior Business

Prior to the sale of substantially all of our operating assets in December 2002, we developed, marketed and supported Internet-
based business-to-business (“B2B*") e-commerce software that automated the procurement, sourcing, and settlement of goods and
services. Our software was designed to help organizations reduce the costs associated with the purchasing and payment settlement of
goods and services, and help to maximize procurement economies of scale. Our client services organization provided our customers
and strategic partners with implementation services, training and technical support. This organization educated our customers and
strategic partners on the strategy, methodology and functionality of our products and implemented our solution, on average, within
three to six months.

There were several milestones in the evolution of our business prior to the sale including:

*  [nitial Public Offering. On May 26, 1998, we completed an initial public offering of our common stock in which we
sold 2.5 million shares of common stock at $10.00 per share, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $22.0
million.

o  ELEKOM Acquisition. On November 6, 1998, we acquired ELEKOM Corporation (“ELEKOM?”) for approximately
$15.7 million, consisting of $8.0 million in cash and approximately 1.4 million shares of our common stock (valued in
the transaction at $5.50 per share). ELEKOM developed a software program that provided electronic corporate
procurement capabilities to its clients.



*  Sale of our Financial and Human Resources Software Business. On October 18, 1999, we sold substantially all of the
assets of our financial and human resources software (“ERP”) business to Geac Computer Systems, Inc. and Geac
Canada Limited. In this sale we received approximately $13.9 million. Approximately $2.9 million of the purchase price
was placed in escrow and was subsequently settled during 2000.

. Follow-on Public Offering. On March 10, 2000, we sold 2,243,000 shares of common stock in a secondary public
offering at $115.00 per share resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $244.4 million.

. iSold.com Acquisition. On April 28, 2000, we acquired all the capital stock of iSold.com, Inc. (“iSold™} for
approximately $2.5 million in cash. iSold developed a software program that provided auctioning capabilities to its
clients.

e SAl/Redeo Companies Acquisition. On May 31, 2000, we acquired all the outstanding stock of SAI (Ireland) Limited,
SAI Recruitment Limited and its subsidiaries and related companies, i2Mobile.com Limited and SAI America Limited
(the “SAI/Redeo Companies™) for approximately $63.2 million, consisting of approximately $30.0 million in cash
(exclusive of $350,000 of cash acquired), 1,148,000 shares-of the Company's common stock with a fair value of $30.4
million, assumed options to acquire 163,200 shares of the Company's common stock with an exercise price of $23.50
(estimated fair value of $1.8 million using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following variables: no
expected dividend yield, volatility of 70%, risk-free interest rate of 6.5%, and an expected life of 2 years) and acquisition
costs of approximately $995,000. The SAI/Redeo Companies specialized in electronic payment settlement software.

E-Commerce Strategic Alliances and Relationships. To ensure that our prior business would deliver a comprehensive solution to our
customers, we established and developed strategic relationships with application service providers, systems integrators, resellers,
OEMSs and other complementary technology partners. These relationships were focused on the expansion of our sales reach to markets
not covered by our direct sales organization.

Sales and Marketing. Our prior business sold software and services through our direct sales force and a number of indirect channels.
Our direct sales force was organized geographically into two regions: (i) the Americas and (ii) Europe, Middle East and Africa
(“EMEA”). The sales cycle for our business-to-business e-commerce products typically averaged four to nine months. In addition, our
web site, www.claruscorp.com was integrated with our sales, marketing, recruiting and fulfillment operations.

Competition. The market for the products of our prior business was highly competitive and subject to rapid technological change. The
principal competitive factors affecting our market included having a significant base of referenceable customers, breadth and depth of
solution, a critical mass of buyers and suppliers, product quality and performance, customer service, architecture, product features, the
ability to implement, and value of the overal] solution.

Research and Development. Our research and development expenditures relating to our prior business were approximately $7.3
million, $16.2 million and $22.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The majority of our
research and development expenditures were related to our e-commerce products.

Proprietary Rights and Licensing. We applied for registration for certain trademarks and evaluated the registration of copyrights and
additional trademarks as appropriate. We entered into license agreements with each of our customers. Each of our license agreements
provided for the customer's non-exclusive right to use the object code version of our products, prohibited the customer from disclosing
to third parties or reverse engineering our products and disclosing our other confidential information.

Recent Developments

At the 2002 annual meeting of our stockholders held on May 21, 2002, Warren B. Kanders, Burtt R. Ehrlich and Nicholas
Sokolow were elected by our stockholders to serve on our Board of Directors. Under the leadership of these new directors, our Board
of Directors adopted a strategy of seeking to enhance stockholder value. By pursuing opportunities to redeploy our assets through an
acquisition of, or merger with, an operating business that will serve as a platform company, using our substantial cash, other non-
operating assets (including, to the extent available, our net operating loss carry-forward) and our publicly-traded stock to enhance
future growth. The strategy also sought to reduce significantly our cash expenditure rate by targeting, to the extent practicable, our
overhead expenses to the amount of our interest income until the completion of an acquisition or merger. While the Company's
expenses have been significantly reduced, management currently believes that the Company's interest income will not exceed its
operating expenses during 2003.

As part of our strategy to enhance stockholder value, on December 6, 2002, we consummated the sale of substantially all of the
assets of our electronic commerce business to Epicor Software Corporation (“Epicor”), a Delaware corporation, for a purchase price of
$1.0 million in cash (the “Asset Sale”). Epicor is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “EPIC.” The sale included
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licensing, support and maintenance activities from our eProcurement, Sourcing, View (for eProcurement), eTour (for eProcurement),
ClarusNET, and Settlement software products, our customer lists, certain contracts and certain intellectual property rights related to
the purchased assets, maintenance payments that we received between October 17, 2002 and the December 6, 2002 closing date of the
Asset Sale for maintenance and services to be performed by Epicor after the closing date of the Asset Sale, and certain furniture and
equipment. In connection with the sale we entered into a Transition Services Agreement until March 31, 2003, that will allow Epicor
to use a portion of our facility in Suwanee, Georgia to operate the electronic commerce business that Epicor is purchasing in the Asset
Sale. '

We did not transfer to Epicor our cash, marketable securities or other investments or our Cashbook, eMarket, eXpense, View (for
eMarket) or eTour (for eMarket) products or related assets. We also did not transfer the name and trademark “Clarus,” although we
granted Epicor a 24-month license to use the trademark “Clarus” in connection with its operation of the purchased assets and the right
to acquire the trademark for no additional consideration if we cease using it as our corporate name within two years after the closing
of the Asset Sale. Epicor agreed to assume certain of our liabilities, such as executory obligations arising under certain contracts,
agreements and commitments related to the transferred assets. We remain responsible for all of our other liabilities including liabilities
under certain contracts, including any violations of environmental laws and for our obligations related to any of our indebtedness,
employee benefit plans or taxes that are or were due and payable in connection with the acquired assets on or before the closing date
of the Asset Sale.

Upon the closing of the sale to Epicor, Warren B. Kanders assumed the position of Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Stephen P. Jeffery ceased to serve as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, and James J. McDevitt ceased to serve as
Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary. Mr. Jeffery has agreed to continue to serve on the Board of Directors and serve in a
consulting capacity for a period of three years. In addition, the Board of Directors appointed Nigel P. Ekern as Chief Administrative
Officer to oversee the interim operations of Clarus and to assist with our asset redeployment strategy.

On January 1, 2003, we sold the assets related to our Cashbook product, which were excluded from the Epicor transaction, to an
employee group headquartered in Limerick, Ireland. Our Cashbook product provides process improvements such as bill-to-pay in
accounts payable and order-to-cash in accounts receivable. This completed the sale of nearly all of our active software operations as
part of our strategy to limit operating losses and enable us to reposition our business in order to enhance stockholder value. In
anticipation of the redeployment of our assets, our cash balances are being held in short term instruments designed to preserve safety
and liquidity.

We are currently identifying suitable merger partners or acquisition opportunities. In connection with the strategy of
redeployment of assets, we retained Morgan Joseph & Co. Inc., a New York based investment banking firm serving middle market
companies, to assist us in implementing this strategy by identifying suitable merger partners or acquisition opportunities. Although we
are not targeting specific business industries for potential acquisitions, we plan to seek businesses with substantial cash flow,
experienced management teams, and operations in markets offering substantial growth opportunities. In addition, we believe that our
common stock, which is publicly traded on the Nasdaq National Market and has a strong institutional stockholder base, offers us
flexibility as acquisition currency and will enhance our attractiveness to potential merger or acquisition candidates. This strategy is,
however, subject to certain risks. See “Factors That May Affect Our Future Results” below.

Employees

All of our employees are based in the United States. As of December 31, 2002, we had a total of 20 employees, including one in
client services, one in sales, six in research and development and 12 in finance and administration. As of March 31, 2003, we expect to
have a total of five employees, all of which are located in our Greenwich, Connecticut headquarters. We closed our office in Georgia
in March 2003. Our employees were previously based in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom and Ireland. As of December
31, 2001, we had a total of 209 employees.

Nomne of our employees are represented by a labor union or are subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We have not
experienced any work stoppages and consider our relationship with our employees to be good.

Factors That May Affect Our Future Results

In addition to other information in this annual report on Form 10-K, the following risk factors should be carefully considered in
evaluating our business because such factors may have a significant impact on our business, operating results, liquidity and financial
condition. As a result of the risk factors set forth below, actual results could differ materially from those projected in any forward-
looking statements.



Risks Related To The Company

We Continue to Incur Operating Losses.

As a result of the sale of substantially all of our electronic commerce business, we will no longer generate revenue previously
associated with the products and contracts comprising our electronic commerce business. We are not profitable and have incurred an
accumulated deficit of $272.4 million from our inception through December 31, 2002. Our current ability to generate revenues and to
achieve profitability and positive cash flow will depend on the Company's ability to redeploy our assets and use our substantial cash to
reposition our business whether it is through a merger or acquisitions. Our ability to become profitable will depend, among other
things, (1) on our success in identifying and acquiring a new operating business, (ii) on our development of new products relatmg to
our new operatmg business, and (iii) success in distributing and marketing our new proposed products.

Qur indemnification obligations to Epicor for breaches of certain of our representatzons in the Asset Purchase Agreement may
significantly exceed the consideration we received in the Asset Sale.

We have an obligation to indemnify Epicor for any losses from breaches of our representations or warranties in.the Asset
Purchase Agreement that occur within 24 months after the closing date of the Asset Sale (December 6, 2002) or within the applicable
statute of limitations period for claims relating to payment of applicable taxes and our compliance with applicable environmental laws,
if longer. Our indemnification obligations with respect to our breach of representations or warranties are subject to a maximum
aggregate limit of $1.0 million, except that: (i) the maximum aggregate limit is $3.0 million with respect to indemnification for any
losses Epicor suffers that are related to our breach of representations and warranties relating to our ownership of the assets to be sold
to Epicor, our intellectual property or our compliance with applicable “bulk sales” laws; and (ii) there is no limit on our obligation to
indemnify Epicor for losses resulting from the conduct of our business before the closing date of the Asset Sale, the assets not
purchased or the liabilities not assumed by Epicor in the Asset Sale or a breach of any representation or warranty regarding our
payment of applicable taxes or our compliance with applicable environmental laws.

The payment of any such indemnification obligations would materially and adversely impact our cash resources and our ability to
pursue additional business opportunities.

For five years after the closing of the Asset Sale to Epicor, we will be prohibited from competing with such assets sold to Epicor.

The Noncompetition Agreement we entered into with Epicor at closing will provide that for a period of five years after the closing
of the Asset Sale (December 6, 2002), neither we nor any of our affiliated entities will, directly or indirectly, anywhere in the world:
(i) engage in any business that competes with the business of developing, marketing and supporting Internet-based business-to-
business, electronic commerce solutions that automate the procurement, sourcing and settlement of goods and services including
through the eProcurement; Sourcing, View (for eProcurement), eTour (for eProcurement), ClarusNET, and Settlement software
products and all improvements and variations of these products; (ii) attempt to persuade any customer or vendor of Epicor to cease to
do business with Epicor or reduce the amount of business being conducted with Epicor; (iii) solicit the business of any customer or
vendor of Epicor, if the solicitation could cause a reduction in the amount of business that Epicor does with the customer or vendor; or
(iv) hire, solicit for employment or encourage to leave the employment of Epicor any person who is then an employee of Epicor or
was an employee of Epicor within the previous 90 days before the closing of the Asset Sale.

The prohibitions contained in our Noncompetition Agreement with Epicor will restrict the business opportunities available to us
and therefore may have a material adverse effect on our ability to successfully redeploy our remaining assets.

We may be unable to redeploy our assets successfully.

As part of our strategy to limit operating losses and enable the Company to redeploy its assets and use its substantial cash and
cash equivalent assets to enhance stockholder value, we have sold our electronic commerce business, which represented substantially
all of our revenue-generating operations and related assets. We are pursuing a strategy of identifying suitable merger partners and
acquisition candidates that will serve as a platform company. Although we are not targeting specific business industries for potential
acquisitions, we plan to seek businesses with substantial cash flow, experienced management teams, and operations in markets
offering substantial growth opportunities. We may not be successful in acquiring such a business or in operating any business that we
acquire. Failure to redeploy isuccessfully will result in our inability to become profitable.

We will have no operating history in our new line of business, which is yet to be determined, and therefore we will be subject to the
risks inherent in establishing a new business.

The Company has not identified what its new line of business will be; therefore, we cannot fully describe the specific risks
presented by such business. It is likely that the Company will have had no operating history in its new line of business and any target
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company may have a limited operating history in its business. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our future operations will
generate operating or net income, and as such our success will be subject to the risks, expenses, problems and delays inherent in
establishing a new business. Such new business may involve an unproven product, technology or marketing strategy, the ultimate
success of which cannot be assured.

Any acquisitions that we attempt or complete could prove difficult to integrate or require a substantial commitment of management
time and other resources.

Acquisitions involve a number of unique risks including: (i) executing successful due diligence; (ii) exposure to unforeseen
liabilities of acquired companies; and (iii) increased risk of costly and time-consuming litigation, including stockholder lawsuits.

We may be unable to address these problems successfully. Moreover, our future operating results will depend to a significant
degree on our ability to integrate acquisitions (if any) successfully and manage operations while also controlling our expenses. In
addition, if we or our investment adviser, Morgan Joseph & Co. Inc., identify an appropriate acquisition opportunity, we may be
unable to negotiate favorable terms for that acquisition. We may be unable to select, manage or absorb or integrate any future
acquisitions successfully, particularly acquisitions of large companies. Any acquisition, even if effectively integrated, may not benefit
our stockholders.

We may be unable to realize the benefits of our net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards.

NOLs may be carried forward to offset federal and state taxable income in future years and eliminate income taxes otherwise
payable on such taxable income, subject to certain adjustments. Based on current federal corporate income tax rates, our NOL and
other carryforwards could provide a benefit to us, if fully utilized, of significant future tax savings. However, our ability to use these
tax benefits in future years will depend upon the amount of our otherwise taxable income. If we do not have sufficient taxable income
in future years to use the tax benefits before they expire, we will lose the benefit of these NOL carryforwards permanently.
Consequently, our ability to use the tax benefits associated with our substantial NOL will depend significantly on our success in
identifying suitable merger partners and/or acquisition candidates, and once identified, successfully consummate a merger with and/or
acquisition of these candidates. '

Additionally, if we underwent an ownership change, the NOL carryforward limitations would impose an annual limit on the
amount of the taxable income that may be offset by our NOL generated prior to the ownership change. If an ownership change were to
occur, we would be unable to use a significant portion of our NOL to offset taxable income. In general, an ownership change occurs
when, as of any testing date, the aggregate of the increase in percentage points of the total amount of a corporation's stock owned by
“S-percent shareholders™ within the meaning of the NOL carryforward limitations whose percentage ownership of the stock has
increased as of such date over the lowest percentage of the stock owned by each such “3-percent shareholder” at any time during the
three-year period preceding such date is more than 50 percentage points. In general, persons who own 5% or more of a corporation's
stock are “5S-percent shareholders,” and all other persons who own less than 5% of a corporation's stock are treated, together, as a
single, public group “5-percent shareholder,” regardless of whether they own an aggregate of 5% of a corporation's stock.

The amount of NOL carryforwards that we have claimed has not been audited or otherwise validated by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service. The IRS could challenge our calculation of the amount of our NOL or our determinations as to when a prior change
in ownership occurred and other provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, may limit our ability to carry forward our NOL to offset
taxable income in future years. If the IRS was successful with respect to any such challenge, the potential tax benefit of the NOL
carryforwards to us could be substantially reduced.

Any transfer restrictions implemented by the Company to preserve NOL may not be effective or may have some unintended
negative effects.

The Company may seek to preserve its NOL through an amendment of its certificate of incorporation and/or bylaws, which would
impose restrictions on the transfer of the Company's capital stock. Any transfer restrictions on the Company's capital stock will be
designed to restrict only those transfers that could result in an impermissible ownership change limiting our ability to utilize our NOL.
Although any transfer restriction imposed on our capital stock is intended to reduce the likelihood of an impermissible ownership
change, there is no guarantee that such restriction would prevent all transfers that would result in an impermissible ownership change.
Any transfer restrictions will require any person attempting to acquire a significant interest in the Company to seek the approval of our
Board of Directors. This may have an “anti-takeover” effect because our Board of Directors may be able to prevent any future
takeover. Similarly, any limits on the amount of capital stock that a stockholder may own could have the effect of making it more
difficult for stockholders to replace current management. Additionally, because transfer restrictions will have the effect of restricting a
stockholder's ability to dispose of or acquire our common stock, the liquidity and market value of our common stock might suffer.




We could be required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, which could significantly
limit our ability to operate and acquire an established business.

The Investment Company Act of 1940 (the “Investment Company Act”) requires registration, as an investment company, for
companies that are engaged primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading securities. Unless an
exclusion applies, a company is an investment company if it owns “investment securities” with a value exceeding 40% of the value of
its total assets on an unconsolidated basis, excluding government securities and cash items. An exclusion from the definition of an
investment company is provided under Section 3(b)(1) of the Investment Company Act for companies that are engaged primarily in a
business other than investing, reinvesting, owning, holding, or trading in securities. Prior to the sale of substantially all of our
operating assets in December 2002 and January 2003, we were an operating company- engaged in the development, marketing and
support of Internet-based 'business-to-business e-commerce software, and either did not meet the definition of investment company
under the Investment Company Act, or could rely on the Section 3(b)(1) exclusion from the definition of investment company under
the Investment Company Act. Since December 2002, we have been relying on the exclusion from the definition of investment
company provided by Rule 3a-2 under the Investment Company Act, which is available for a period not exceeding one year to a
company that intends to be engaged primarily in a business other than that of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in
securities. Our officers and directors are currently actively engaged in pursuing opportunities to redeploy our assets by seeking to
identify an established operating business for us to acquire or merge with by the end of the one-year period. If they are not able to
identify a business during that time period, we will need to consider other options, including divesting ourselves of securities that
could be deemed to be “investment securities” under the Investment Company Act and/or acquiring sufficient non-investment assets
so as not to be regarded as an investment company under the Investment Company Act, either of which options could be
disadvantageous to us and/or our shareholders. If we were deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act,
and were unable to rely on an exclusion under the Investment Company Act, we would be forced to comply with substantive
requirements of Investment Company Act, including: (i) limitations on our ability to borrow; (i) limitations on our capital structure;
(ii1) restrictions on acquisitions of interests in associated companies; (iv) prohibitions on transactions with affiliates; (v) restrictions on
specific investments; (vi) limitations on our ability to issue stock options; and (vii) compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting,
proxy disclosure and other rules and regulations. Registration as an investment company would subject us to restrictions that would
significantly impair our ability to pursue our fundamental business strategy of acquiring and operating an established business. In the
event the SEC or a court took the position that we were an investment company, our failure to register as an investment company
would not only raise the possibility of an enforcement action by the SEC or an adverse judgment by a court, but also could threaten
the validity of corporate actions and contracts entered into by us during the period we were deemed to be an unregistered investment
company.

Risks Related To Ownership Of Common Stock
We are vulnerable to volatile market conditions.

The market prices of our common stock have been highly volatile. The market has from time to time experienced significant price
and volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. Please see the table contained in Item
S of this Report which sets forth the range of high and low bids of our common stock for the calendar quarters indicated.

We do not expect to pay dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

Although our stockholders may receive dividends if, as and when declared by our Board of Directors, we do not intend to pay
dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. Therefore, you should not purchase our common stock if you need
immediate or future income by way of dividends from your investment.

Qur common stock isicurrently quoted on the NASDAQ national market system but could be delisted.

To continue to be listed on the Nasdaq National Market System, we must maintain certain requirements. If we fail to satisfy one
or more of the requirements, our Common Stock may be delisted. If our Common Stock is delisted, and does not become listed on
another stock exchange, then it will be traded, if at all, in the over-the-counter market commonly referred to as the OTC Bulletin
Board and/or the “pink sheets”. If this occurs, it may be more difficult for you to sell our Common Stock, since there is generally less
market-maker interest, and less liquidity, in Bulletin Board stocks than in Nasdagq listed securities.

Also, if our Common Stock is delisted and its trading price remains below $5.00 per share, trading could potentially be subject to
certain other rules of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such rules require additional disclosure by broker-dealers in connection
with any trades involving a stock defined as a “penny stock™. “Penny stock” is defined as any non-Nasdaq equity security that has a
market price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions. Such rules require the delivery of a disclosure schedule
explaining the penny stock market and the risks associated with that market before entering into any penny stock transaction.
Disclosure is also required to be made about compensation payable to both the broker-dealer and the régistered representative and
current quotations for the securities. The rules also impose various sales practice requirements on broker-dealers who sell penny
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stocks to persons other than established customers and accredited. investors. For these types of transactions, the broker-dealer must
make a special suitability determination for the purchaser and must receive the purchaser's written consent to the transaction prior to
the sale. Finally, monthly statements are required to be sent disclosing recent price information for the penny stocks. The additional
burdens imposed upon broker-dealers by such' requirements could discourage broker-dealers from effecting transactions in our
Common Stock. This could severely limit the market liquidity of our Common Stock and your ability to sell the Common Stock.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the issuance of shares of preferred stock.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our Board of Directors will be authorized to issue from time
to time, without further stockholder approval, up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix or alter the
designations, preferences, rights and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions of the shares of each series, including the dividend
rights, dividend rates, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, including sinking fund provisions, redemption price or
prices, liquidation preferences and the number of shares constituting any series or designations of any series. Such shares of preferred
stock could have preferences -over our common stock with respect to dividends and liquidation rights. We may issue additional
preferred stock in ways, which may delay, defer or prevent a change in control of the Company without further action by our
stockholders. Such shares of preferred stock may be issued with voting rights that may adversely affect the voting power of the
holders of our common stock by mcreasmg the number of outstandmg shares having votmg rights, and by the creation of class or
series votmg rights. :

Where You Can Find More"Invf'ormation )

At your request, we will pr0v1de you, without charge, a copy of any exhibits to this annual report on Form 10-K. If you want an
exhibit or more mformatlon call wrlte or e-mail us at:

Clarus Corporation

One Pickwick Plaza

Greenwich, Connecticut 06830

Telephone: (203) 302-2000

Fax: (203) 302-2020 =

www.claruscorp.com or nekern@claruscorp.com
Contact: Nigel Ekern, Chief Administrative Officer

Our fiscal year ends on December 31. We file annual, quarterly, and other reports, proxy statements and other information with
the Securities and Exchange Commission. You may read and copy any reports, statements, or other information we file at the SEC's
public reference rooms in Washington, D.C., New York, New York, and Chicago, Illinois. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for
further information on the public reference rooms. Qur SEC filings are also available to the public from commercial document
retrieval services and at the Internet site maintained by the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters is located in Greenwich, Connecticut where we lease approximately 2,700 square feet for $11,312 a
month, pursuant to a lease, which expires on December 15, 2003. We entered into an oral agreement in 2003 with Kanders &
Company pursuant to which we sublease approximately 1,989 square feet in Greenwich, Connecticut for $9,572 a month (subject to
increases every three years). The agreement provides for a one-year'term and Clarus has the option to renew for up to nine additional
one-year terms. Under the terms of the agreement, we are required to pay approximately $325,000 in build-out construction costs,
fixtures, equipment and furnishings related to preparation of the space. In the event Clarus was to undergo a change in control, our
remaining rent through the tenth anniversary of the commencement of the agreement would immediately accelerate and the present
value of such rent would be placed in escrow for the benefit of Kanders & Company. We also lease approximately 5,200 square feet
near Toronto, Canada, that was used for the delivery of services as well as research and development through October 2001. This
facility has been sub-leased for approximately $4,000 a month, pursuant to a sublease, which expires on January 30, 2006.

In December 2002, the Company executed a lease termination agreement pursuant to which it agreed to abandon its principal
facility in Suwanee, Georgia on March 31, 2003. Pursuant to the terms of the termination agreement, the Company paid to the lessor
$2.9 million in cash which has been included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying statement of operations for
2002. The lease is scheduled to terminate March 31, 2003. :

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is a party to the following pending judicial and administrative proceedings. After reviewing the proceedings that
-are currently pending (including the probable outcome, reasonably anticipated costs and expenses, availability and limits of insurance

7



coverage, and our established reserves for uninsured liabilities) we do not believe that any liabilities that may result from these
proceedings are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition or results of operations,
however, the results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict. An unfavorable resolution of the following proceedings
could materially adversely laffect the Company's business, results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.

Following its public announcement on October 25, 2000, of its financial results for the third quarter of 2000, the Company
and certain of its directors and officers were named as defendants in fourteen putative class action lawsuits filed in the United
States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. The fourteen class action lawsuits were consolidated into one case, Case
No. 1:00-CV-2841, pursuant to an order of the court dated November 17, 2000. A consolidated amended complaint was then filed
on May 14, 2001 on behalf of all purchasers of common stock of the Company during the period beginning December 8, 1999
and ending on October 25, 2000.

Generally the amended complaint alleges claims against the Company and the other defendants for violations of Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. Generally, it is
alleged that the defendants made material misrepresentations and omissions in public filings made with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and in certain press releases and other public statements. The amended complaint alleges that the market
price of the Company's common stock was artificially inflated during the class periods. The plaintiffs seek unspecified
compensatory damages and costs (including attorneys' and expert fees), expenses and other unspecified relief on behalf of the
classes. The Court denied a motion to dismiss brought by the defendants and the case is currently in discovery.

On December 18, 2002, Peachtree Equity Partners, as the assignee of a five-year Promissory Note from the Company in the
amount of $5,000,000.due March 14, 2003, brought an action in the Georgia state court for prepayment of the Note, plus interest
and attorneys fees. The action asserts that certain Change of Control provisions, as defined in the Note, have been triggered, thus
permitting the holder to demand immediate prepayment in full. The Company has denied the material allegations of the
Complaint and asserted various affirmative defenses.

During 2002, ten former employees of the Company commenced an action in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia seeking back pay, employee benefits, interest and attorneys fees. The Company denies the material
allegations set forth by the plaintifts and asserted various affirmative defenses.

In addition to the above, in the normal course of business, we are subjected to claims and litigations in the areas of general
liability. We believe that we have adequate insurance coverage for most claims that are incurred in the normal course of business. In
such cases, the effect on our financial statements is generally limited to the amount of our insurance deductibles. At this time, we do
not believe any such claims will have a material impact on the Company's financial position.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
These are the results of voting by stockholders present or represented by proxy at our special meeting held on December 6, 2002:

Item 1. Sale of Revenue-Generating Operations and Related Assets. Proposal to consider and vote on the sale of substantially all
of the assets of the Company's electronic commerce business, which represents substantially all of the Company's revenue-generating
operations and related assets, pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement dated October 17, 2002, between the Company and Epicor
Software Corporation for cash consideration. The stockholders approved this proposal. There were 10,588,519 shares voting for the
proposal, 135,724 shares voting against the proposal, 17,939 shares abstaining, and 4,433,413 broker non-votes.

Item 2. Elimination of Classified Board. Proposal to consider and vote on the adoption and approval of our proposed Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and proposed Amended and Restated Bylaws to eliminate the classification of the
Company's Board of Directors into three separate classes. The stockholders approved this proposal. There were 10,541,427 shares
voting for the proposal, 177,051 shares voting against the proposal, 23,704 shares abstaining, and 4,433,413 broker non-votes.

Item 3. Reimbursement of Expenses. To approve the reimbursement of expenses incurred by Warren B. Kanders on behalf of
himself, Burtt R. Ehrlich and Nicholas Sokolow in connection with their successful solicitation of proxies. The stockholders approved
this proposal. There were 14,088,184 shares voting for the proposal, 1,049,502 shares voting against the proposal, and 37,909 shares
abstaining.




PART II

ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Our common stock has been listed on the Nasdaq National Market System (“NASDAQ”) since May 26, 1998, the effective date
of our initial public offering. On August 28, 1998, we changed our name from SQL Financials International, Inc. to Clarus
Corporation. Effective September 2, 1998, we changed our NASDAQ symbol from “SQLF” to “CLRS”. Prior to May 26, 1998, there
was no established trading market for our common stock. The following table sets forth, for the indicated periods, the high and low

closing sales prices for our common stock as reported by the NASDAQ.

Closing Sales Price

High
Calendar Year 2001
First Quarter $6.25
Second Quarter $7.29
Third Quarter $8.45
Fourth Quarter $6.27
Calendar Year 2002 '
First Quarter $6.25
Second Quarter $6.04
Third Quarter $5.20
Fourth Quarter $6.00
Calendar Year 2003
First Quarter (through March 14, 2003) $5.87

Stockholders

Low

$5.09
$5.08
$3.55
$3.30

$3.44
$3.73
$4.16
$4.53

$5.01

On March 14, 2003, the last reported sales price for our common stock on the NASDAQ was $5.11 per share. As of March 14,

2003, there were 155 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We currently anticipate that we will retain all future earnings for use in our business and do not anticipate that we will pay any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of any future dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and
will depend upon, among other things, our results of operations, capital requirements, general business conditions, contractual
restrictions on payment of dividends, if any, legal and regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends, and other factors our Board

of Directors deems relevant.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following table sets forth certain information regarding our equity plans as at December 31, 2002.

PLAN CATEGORY (a) (&)

NUMBER OF SECURITIES TO BE

ISSUED UPON EXERCISE OF WEIGHTED AVERAGE EXERCISE

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, PRICE OF OUTSTANDING OPTIONS,
WARRANTS AND RIGHTS WARRANTS AND RIGHTS

Equity compensation plans 2,854,906 $7.76

approved by security

holders (1)(2)

Equity compensation plans 58,334 $55.48

not approved by security

holders (3)(4)

Total 2,913,240 $8.72

®)
NUMBER OF SECURITIES
REMAINING AVAILABLE FOR
FUTURE ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY

COMPENSATION PLANS

(EXCLUDING SECURITIES
REFLECTED IN COLUMN (a))

1,899,110

58,334

1,957,444

(1) Includes nonqualified stock options issued and issuable by the Company under the Stock Incentive Plan of Software
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Architects Interndtional, Limited (the “SAI Plan”) assumed by the Company, pursuant to the Stock Purchase Agreement,
dated May 31, 2000, by and among Clarus, SAI (Ireland) Limited, SAI Recruitment Limited, i2Mobile.com Limited, SAI
America Limited (collectively, the “SAI/Redeo Companies™) and the shareholders of the SAI/Redeo Companies. Under the
SAI Plan, the Company may grant stock options to eligible participants who must be employees of the Company or its
subsidiaries or consultants, but not directors or officers of the Company.

(2) Excludes 77,851 shares purchased under our Employee Stock Purchase Plans for a weighted average price of $5.39 but
includes 922,149 shares of our common stock remaining available for future issuance under such plans. Under such plans,
employees have an opportunity to purchase shares of the Company's common stock at a discount. Generally, eligible
employees, as defined in the plan documents, may elect to have up to 15 percent of their annual salary, up to a maximum of
$12,500 per six month purchase period, withheld to purchase the Company's common stock at a price equal to the lower of
85 percent of the market price of our common stock at either the beginning or the end of the six month offering period.

(3) Includes 25,000 warrants previously granted by the Company to a strategic partner in return for completion of predetermined
sales and marketing milestones. The exercise price of these warrants is $53.75 per share and the warrants expire on October
31, 2003.

(4) Includes 33,334 warrants previously granted by the Company to a third party software developer in exchange for services.
The exetcise price of the 33,334 warrants was $56.78 per share and the warrants expire on March 31, 2003,

ITEM 6. SELECTEDFINANCIAL DATA

Our selected financial information set forth below should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements,
including the notes thereto and “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of Part 11
of this Report. The following statement of operations and balance sheet data have -been derived from our audited consolidated
financial statements and should be read in conjunction with those statements and “Management s Discussion and Analysis of Fmanc1al
Condition and Results of Operations™ of Part II of this Report.

Years Ended December 31
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
(in thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
LICEISE EES, . vvvierierceriire e ceeieietres e et st ae s et e neensconeesannen $2,808 $7,807 $24,686 © $15,101 $17,372
Services fees . 6,226 9.866 10,327* 25,676 27,744
TOMA] TEVETIUES. ..ot ieecietiencccn et cencs e en oo seneeseonconaerins 9,034 17,673 35,013 40,777 45,116
Cost of revenues:
LICENSE fEES .ot eeeie ettt et et 26 211 154 1,351 1,969
SEEVICE TEES .evveevircereiras o rier s eteacene st ser et e s es e anecn s ecsenen 5,498 12,921 12,901 17,152 17.428
Total COSt OF FEVEINUES ... eeceeeeriiitie ettt eene s 5,524 13,132 13,055 18,503 19,397
Operating expenses:
Research and development, exclusive of noncash expense............... 7,263 - 16,220 "22,390 " 6,003 6,335
Noncash research and development ........occoccvvviriiicnicninincniae -- .- . 424 Lo - . -
In-process research and development..................... -- - 8,300 L - 10,500
Sales and marketing, exclusive of noncash expense . . 7,488 ' 27,294 36,230 15,982 < 11,802
Noncash sales and marketing ..o P 450 6,740 7,001 -.1,930 . -
General and administrative, exclusive of noncash expense .............. 12,574 9,381 9,897 4,996 4,387
Provision for doubtful accounts..........ccccoovimininininininn, " (560) 5,537 5,824 1,245 739
Noncash general and administrative. . -- 252 1,098 874 - 880 -
Loss on impairment of goodwill............ccrernniiicicniiin e 6,801 36,756 -- -- . -
Loss on impairment of intangible assets .......c..ccocoveireirnccrcrcenen 3,559 -- - -- --
Gain on sale of e-commerce assets to Epicor .. . (514) -- - - . --
Gain on sale of ERP assets to Geac.................... . -- -- (1,347) 9,417) Co--
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property and equipment............cocoeen.e. 2,262 (20) - - -
Depreciation and amortization «.......cc.cooccvveniricrimniniiniccncicie 4,243 12212 8,132 3.399 2,154
Total operating expenses....... . 43,566 114.372 97.949 28,012 36.797
Operating 108S ......cccovvnienrevcorinamnenncs (40,056) (109,831) (75,991) (5,738) (11,078)
Gain on foreign currency transactions ..... 12 . 107 - - - -
Gain/(Loss) on sale of marketable securities .........c...coccooeeee 15 a1 (100) .- -
Loss on impairment of marketable securities and investments. . -- (16,461) (4,128) -- -
Amortization of debt discount..........cc.cccocivniiiiiiniiannn, . C - - (982) R -
Interest inCome............ccceeees . 2,441 6,570 - 10,902 i 442 636
Interest expense ... 225) 228) (348) (105) (224)
Minority interest .. -- S N -- (36

Net loss

30110854  §00.647) ~¥5.401) £(10,702)

Net loss per common share:

T $(2.42) $(172)  $(4.90) ' $(0.49) $(L70)

Weighted average common shares outstanding: . } Coe
Basic and diluted.......cccoocooiiiniini s 15,615 15,530 . 14,420 11,097 6,311

*Figure inadvertently omitted from EDGAR filed version of Form 10-K
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As of December 31

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS .........ociieviiioiee e $42,225 $55,628 $118,303 $14,127 $14,799
Marketable SECUTIHES ... ovvvrirreieririeie e er e ettt eb e 52,885 65,264 50,209 -- -
TOLA] BSSEIS ...vivrveevieisiveeee et ie et s st e b st ettt st b e a s en et b et s 97,764 145,274 266,904 48,563 40,082
Long-term debt, net of cusrent portion ... erocranmncenincr oo -- 5,000 5,000 -- 245
Total StoCKHOIAETS' EQUILY.....vveveecrieriricee et ns e e 89,360 126,328 246,822 32,615 22,111

ITEM7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains certain forward-looking statements, including information about or related to our future results, certain
projections and business trends. Assumptions relating to forward-looking statements involve judgments with respect to, among other
things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to
predict accurately and many of which are beyond our control. When used in this report, the words “estimate,” “project,” “intend,”
“believe,” “expect” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Although we believe that our
assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements are reasonable, any or all of the assumptions could prove inaccurate, and we
may not realize the results contemplated by the forward-looking statements. Management decisions are subjective in many respects
and susceptible to interpretations and periodic revisions based upon actual experience and business developments, the impact of which
may cause us to alter our business strategy or capital expenditure plans that may, in turn, affect our results of operations. In light of the
significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking information included in this report, you should not regard the inclusion of
such information as our representation that we will achieve any strategy, objectives or other plans. The forward-looking statements
contained in this report speak only as of the date of this report, and we have no obligation to update publicly or revise any of these
forward-looking statements.

These and other statements, which are not historical facts, are based largely upon our current expectations and assumptions and
are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by such
forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, among others, our planned effort to redeploy our assets to enhance
stockholder value following the completion of the transaction with Epicor, and the risks and uncertainties set forth in the section
headed “Factors That May Affect Our Future Results” of Part I of this Report and described in Part II of this Report. The Company
cannot guarantee its future performance.

Overview

AS PART OF OUR STRATEGY TO LIMIT OPERATING LOSSES AND ENABLE THE COMPANY TO REDEPLOY ITS
ASSETS AND USE ITS SUBSTANTIAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT ASSETS TO ENHANCE STOCKHOLDER VALUE,
WE HAVE SOLD OUR ELECTRONIC COMMERCE BUSINESS, WHICH REPRESENTED SUBSTANTIALLY ALL OF OUR
REVENUE-GENERATING OPERATIONS AND RELATED ASSETS, ALL FURTHER DESCRIBED HEREIN. THE
INFORMATION APPEARING BELOW, WHICH RELATES TO PRIOR PERIODS, IS, THEREFOR NOT INDICATIVE OF THE
RESULTS WHICH MAY BE EXPECTED FOR ANY SUBSEQUENT PERIODS. FUTURE PERIODS WILL PRIMARILY
REFLECT GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONTINUING ADMINISTRATION
OF THE COMPANY AND ITS EFFORTS TO REDEPLOY ITS ASSETS THROUGH A MERGER WITH OR ACQUISITION OF
AN ESTABLISHED OPERATING BUSINESS.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The Company's discussion of financial condition and results of operations is based on the consolidated financial statements which
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these
consolidated financial statements require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Estimates also affect the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The Company continually evaluates its estimates and
assumptions including those related to revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, impairment of long-lived assets,
impairment of investments, and contingencies and litigation. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The Company believes the following critical accounting policies include the more significant estimates and assumptions used by
management in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. Our accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1 of
our consolidated financial statements.
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e The Company has recognized revenue from two primary sources, software licenses and services. Revenue from software
licensing and services fees is recognized in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue
Recognition”, and SOP 98-9, “Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions” and related
interpretations. The Company recognized software license revenue when: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
(2) delivery has occurred; (3) the fee is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectibility is probable.

¢ The Company maintains allowances for doubtful accounts based on expected losses resulting from the inability of the
Company's customers to make required payments. The Company recorded a reversal of the provision for doubtful accounts of
($560,000) during the year ended December 31, 2002. The Company has recorded a provision for doubtful accounts of $5.5
million and $5.8 million, respectively, in the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000. If the financial condition of these
customers were to deteriorate additional allowances may be required.

¢ The Company had significant long-lived assets, primarily intangibles, as a result of acquisitions completed during 2000.
During 2002, the Company evaluated the carrying value of its long-lived assets, including intangibles, according to Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and SFAS No. 144
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. Prior to 2002, the Company periodically evaluated the
carrying value of its long-lived assets, including intangibles, according to SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of.” The Company recorded impairment charges on goodwill
of $6.8 million and $36.8 million in 2002 and 2001, respectively, and impairment charges on intangible assets of $3.5 million
in 2002.

e The Company has:made equity investments in several privately held companies. The Company records an impairment charge
when it believes an investment has experienced a decline in value that is other than temporary. During the years ended
December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded impairment charges on investments of $15.4 million and $4.1 million,
respectively. The Company did not record an impairment charge on investments during 2002,

® The Company is a|party to the pending judicial and administrative proceedings described elsewhere herein. An unfavorable
resolution of those proceedings could materially adversely affect the Company's business, results of operations, liquidity or
financial condition.

Stock Option Exchange Program

On April 9, 2001, the Company announced a voluntary stock option exchange program for its employees. Under the program,
employees were given the opportunity to cancel outstanding stock options previously granted to them on or after November 1, 1999,
in exchange for an equal number of new options to be granted at a future date. The exercise price of the new options was equal to the
fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. During the first phase of the program 366,174 options with a
weighted average exercise price of $30.55 per share were canceled and new options to purchase 263,920 shares with an exercise price
of $3.49 per share were granted on November 9, 2001. During the second phase of the program 273,188 options with a weighted
average exercise price of $43.87 per share were canceled and new options to purchase 198,052 shares with an exercise price of $4.10
per share were granted on February 11, 2002. Employees who participated in the first exchange were not eligible for the second
exchange. The exchange program was designed to comply with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No.
44 “Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation” and did not result in any additional compensation charges or
variable accounting with respect to the new grants. Members of the Company's Board of Directors and its executive officers were not
eligible to participate in the exchange program.

Sources of Revenue

Prior to December 6, 2002, the Company's revenue consisted of license fees and services fees. License fees were generated from
the licensing of the Company's suite of products. Services fees were generated from consulting, implementation, training, content
aggregation and maintenance support services. Following the sale of the Company's remaining operating assets, the Company's
revenue consists of interest, dividend and other investment income from short-term investments. Future revenues from operation is
dependent on the Company's ability to redeploy its assets through a merger with or acquisition of an established business.

Revenue Recognition

The Company historically recognized revenue from two primary sources, software licenses and services. Revenue from software
licensing and services fees was recognized in accordance with SOP 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition”, and SOP 98- 9, “Software
" Revenue Recognition with' Respect to Certain Transactions” and related interpretations. The Company recognizes software license
revenue when: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred; (3) the fee is fixed or determinable; and (4)
collectibility is probable. '
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SOP No. 97-2 generally requires revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple elements to be allocated to each
element based on the relative fair values of the elements. The fair value of an element must be based on evidence that is specific to the
vendor. License fee revenue allocated to software products generally was recognized by the Company upon delivery of the products or
deferred and recognized in future periods to the extent that an arrangement includes one. or more elements to be delivered at a future
date and for which fair values have not been established. Revenue allocated to maintenance was recognized ratably over the
maintenance term, which is typically 12 months and revenue allocated to training and other service elements is recognized as the
services are performed.

Under SOP No. 98-9, if evidence of fair value does not exist for all elements of a license agreement and post-contract customer
support was the only undelivered element, then all revenue for the license arrangement was recognized ratably over the term of the
agreement as license revenue. If evidence of fair value of all undelivered elements exists but evidence does not exist for one or more
delivered elements, then revenue was recognized using the residual method. Under the residual method, the fair value of the
undelivered elements was deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee was recognized as revenue. The Company uses
the residual method since it does not have fair value of the license fees. Revenue from hosted software agreements are recognized
ratably over the term of the hosting arrangements.

Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses

Cost of license fees includes royalties and software duplication and distribution costs. The Company recognized these costs as the
applications were shipped.

Cost-of services fees includes personnel related expenses and third-party consulting fees incurred to provide implementation,
training, maintenance, content aggregation, and upgrade services to customers and partners. These costs were recognized as they are
incurred for time and- material arrangements and are recognized using the percentage of completion method for fixed price
arrangements

Research and development expenses consisted primarily of personnel related expenses and third-party consulting fees. The
Company accounts for software development costs under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, “Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed”. The Company charges research and development costs
related to new products or enhancements to expense as incurred until technological feasibility is established, after which the remaining
costs are capitalized until the product or enhancement is available for general release to customers. The Company defines
technological feasibility as the point in time at which a working model of the related product or enhancement exists. Historically, the
costs incurred during the period between the achievement of technological feasibility and the point at which the product is available
for general release to customers have not been material. ‘

Sales and marketing expenses consisted primarily of personnel related expenses, including sales commissions and bonuses,
expenses related to travel, customer meetmgs trade show partrcrpatron public relations, promotiona) activities, regional sales offices,
and advertising.

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of pérsonnel related expenses for financial, administrative and management
personnel, fees for professional services, board of director fees and the provision for doubtful accounts. The Company allocates the
total cost of its information technology function and costs related to the occupancy of its corporate headquarters, to each of the
functional areas. Information technology expenses include personnel related expenses, communication charges, and software support.
Occupancy charges include rent, utilities, and maintenance services.

Restructuring and Related Costs

During 2002 and 2001, the Company's management approved restructuring plans to reorganize and reduce operating costs.
Restructuring and related charges of $4.2 million were expensed in 2001 to better align the Company's cost structure with projected
revenue. The charges were comprised of $3.0 million for employee separatlon and related costs for 181 employees and $1.2 million
for facﬂlty closure and consolidation costs.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company determined that amounts previously charged during 2001 of approximately
$202,000 that related to employee separation and related charges were no longer required and this amount was credited to sales and
marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations during 2002. Restructuring and related charges of $8.6
million were expensed during 2002. The charges for 2002 were comprised of $4.6 million for employee separation and related costs
for 183 employees and $4.0 million for facility closures and consolidation costs.

The facility closures and consolidation costs for 2001 and 2002 relate to the abandonment of the Company's leased facilities in
Suwanee, Georgia; Limerick, Ireland; Maidenhead, England; and near Toronto, Canada. Total facilities closure and consolidation
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costs include remaining lease liabilities, construction costs and brokerage fees to sublet the abandoned space, net of estimated sublease
income. The estimated costs of abandoning these leased facilities, including estimated costs to sublease, were based on market
information trend analysis provided by a commercial real estate brokerage firm retained by the Company. The Company incurred a
charge in the fourth quarter 2002 of $2.1 million for facility closure and consolidation costs as a result of the termination of its lease
for the facility in Suwanee, Georgia.

The following is a reconciliation of the components of the accrual for restructuring and related costs, the amounts charged against
the accrual during 2001 and;2002 and the balance of the accrual as of December 31, 2002:

2001 2002
, Accruals Expenditures Balance Accruals Expenditures Balance

During 2001 During 2001 December 31, 2001 [ During 2002 During 2002 Credits December 31, 2002

(in thousands)

Employee separation costs $2,939 $2,259 $680 $4,645 $4,196 $202 $927
Facility closure costs 1,218 9 1,209 3,905 4,977 - 137
Total restructuring

and related costs © 84157 $2.268 $1,889 $8.550 $9.173 3202 $1.064

Comparison of Results of Operations Between the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001

The following discussion covers historical results of operations for the periods indicated for the Company's prior businesses. On
December 6, 2002, the Company completed the disposition of substantially all its operating assets, and the Company is now
evaluating alternative ways to redeploy its assets into new businesses. The discussion below is therefore not material to an
understanding of future revenue, earnings, operations, business or prospects of the Company.

Revenues

Total Revenues. Total revenues decreased 48.9% to $9.0 million in 2002 from $17.7 million in 2001. The decrease in total
revenues resulted primarily from a decrease in information technology spending and the announcement by the Company during the
quarter ended June 30, 2002 to explore all strategic alternatives as part of its strategy to limit operating losses and enable it to
reposition its business in order to enhance stockholder value. For the year ended December 31, 2002, one customer accounted for
more than 10%, totaling $2.7 million or 29.9% of total revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2001, three customers accounted for
more than 10% each, totaling $6.2 million or 35.3% of total revenue. The percentage of total revenue recognized from these three
customers was 12.2%, 11.9%, and 11.2%.

License Fees. License fees decreased 64.0% to $2.8 million, or 31.1% of total revenues, in 2002 from $7.8 million, or 44.2% of
total revenues, in 2001. The decrease in llcense fees was the result of a decrease in the amount of software licensed. This decrease is
due to the factors discussed above.

Services Fees. Services fees decreased 36.9% to $6.2 million from $9.9 million in 2002, but increased as a percentage of total
revenues to 68.9% in 2002 from 55.8% in 2001. This decrease is primarily attributable to a decrease in implementation and training
services and maintenance fees, a direct result of the decrease in the amount of software licensed.

Cost of Revenues

Total Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues decreased 57.9% to $5.5 million, or 61.1% of total revenues, during the year ended
December 31, 2002 from $13.1 miliion, or 74.3% of total revenues, during the same period in 2001. The decrease in the total cost of
revenues is primarily attributable to a decrease in personnel related costs.

Cost of License Fees. Cost of license fees decreased to $26,000 in 2002 from $211,000 in 2001. Cost of license fees includes
royalties and software duplication and distribution costs. The decrease in cost of license fees is primarily attributable to a decrease in
royalty fees paid by the Company pursuant to equipment manufacturer agreements for certain of its applications.. The cost of license
fees may vary from period to period depending on the product mix licensed, but remain a small percentage of license fees.

Cost of Services Fees. Cost of services fees decreased 57.4% to $5.5 million, or 88.3% of total services fees, in 2002 compared to
$12.9 million, or 131.0% of total services fees, in 2001. The decrease in the cost of services fees was primarily attributable to a
decrease in personnel related costs, a decrease in consulting fees and a decrease in expenses related to employee separation and
facility closure costs. The Company had an average of 73.9% fewer employees during the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to
the same period during 2001. Consulting fees related to subcontracted services during the year ended December 31, 2002 were
approximately $289,000 compared to approximately $422,000 during the year ended December 31, 2001. The Company incurred
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$858,000 of expense related to employee separation and related benefit costs incurred as part of the Company's restructuring initiative
during the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 compared to $1.0 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses decreased 55.2% to $7.3 million, or 80.4% of total revenues, in 2002 from $16.2 million, or
91.8% of total revenues, in 2001, Research and development expenses decreased primarily due to decreased consulting fees incurred
to develop the Company's products and a decrease in personnel related costs partially offset by increased employee separation and
related benefit costs. Consulting fees decreased to approximately $798,000 during the year ended December 31, 2002 from
approximately $3.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2001. The Company had an average of 64.0% fewer employees in the
research and development area during 2002 compared to the same period of 2001. The Company incurred $1.3 million of expense
related to employee separation and related benefit costs incurred as part of the Company's restructuring initiative during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2002 compared to $217,000 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

Sales and Marketing, Exclusive of Noncash Expense

Sales and marketing expenses decreased 72.6% to $7.5 million, or 82.9% of total revenues, in 2002 from $27.3 million, or
154.4% of total revenues, in 2001. The decrease was primarily attributable to the reduction of sales and marketing personnel, a
decrease in variable compensation as a result of lower license revenue during 2002, and a reduction of promotional activities
associated with building market awareness of the Company's e-commerce products. The Company had.an average of 80.4% fewer
sales and marketing employees during 2002 compared to the same period in 2001. The Company incurred $1.2 million of expense
related to employee separation and related benetit costs incurred as part of the Company's restructuring initiative during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2002 compared to $1.1 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

Noncash Sales and Marketing Expense

During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, non-cash sales and marketing expenses of approximately $450,000 and
$6.7 million, respectively, were recognized in connection with sales and marketing agreements signed by the Company during the
fourth quarter of 1999 and the first quarter of 2000. In connection with these agreements, the Company issued warrants and shares of
common stock to certain strategic partners, all of whom were also customers, in exchange for their participation in the Company's
sales and marketing efforts. The Company recorded the value of these warrants and common stock as deferred sales and marketing
costs, which were being amortized over the life of the agreements which ranged from nine months to five years. Included in the results
for 2001 is $1.4 million of expense recorded in the fourth quarter as a result of terminating the sales and marketing agreement with
one customer.

General and Administrative, Exclusive of Noncash Expense

General and administrative expenses, including the provision for doubtful accounts, decreased 19.5% to $12.0 million in 2002
from $14.9 million in 2001. As a percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expenses increased to 133.0% in 2002 from
84.4% in 2001. During 2002 the Company recorded a reversal of the provision for doubtful accounts of $560,000 compared to a
provision for doubtful accounts of approximately $5.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in general and
administrative expenses was primarily attributable to decreases in personnel related costs and a decrease in the provision for doubtful
accounts partially offset by employee separation and related benefit costs and facility closure and consolidation costs. The Company
had an average of 54.9% fewer general and administrative employees during 2002 compared to the same period in 2001. The
Company incurred $1.1 million of expense related to employee separation and related benefit costs incurred as part of the Company's
restructuring initiative during the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 compared to $526,000 during the twelve months ended
December 31, 2001. The Company incurred $3.9 million of expense related to facility closure and consolidation costs during the
twelve months ended December 31, 2002 compared to $1.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

Noncash General and Administrative Expense

The Company did not incur any noncash general and administrative expenses during 2002. The Company incurred noncash
general and administrative expenses of approximately $252,000, or 1.4% of total revenues, during 2001. In the third quarter of 2000,
the Company granted 18,750 options to a new board member at a price below the fair market value at the date of grant, The amount
expensed during 2001 relates primarily to these options.

Loss on Impairment of Intangible Assets

As a result of a change in the Company's strategic direction during the second quarter of 2002, the Company determined that
remaining goodwill and intangible assets should be tested for further impairment. The Company's evaluation of the present value of
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future cash flows based on the change in strategic direction indicated the carrying value of the Company's assets exceeded fair value.
As a result, the Company recorded an additional impairment charge to goodwill of $6.8 million and an impairment charge to
intangible assets of $3.5 million during the three months ended June 30, 2002. The Company evaluates the carrying value of its long-
lived assets, including intangibles, according to SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” and SFAS No. 144
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. Prior to 2002, the Company evaluated the carrying value of its
long-lived assets, including intangibles, according to SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for
Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of”. During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company's evaluation of the performance of the
SAl/Redeo companies compared to initial projections, negative economic trends and a decline in industry growth rate projections
indicated that the carrying'value of goodwill exceeded expected cash flows. The $36.8 million write-down was based on the amount
by which the carrying amount of goodwill exceeded fair value.

Gain on Sale of E-Commgrce Assets

On December 6, 2002, the Company sold its e-commerce software business to Epicor Software Corporation for approximately
$1.0 million, of which $200,000 was placed in escrow. The Company recorded a gain during the fourth quarter of 2002 on the sale of
this business of approximately $514,000.

(Gain)/Loss on Sale of Prbperty and Equipment

During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company recorded a loss on the disposal of property and equipment of
$2.3 million and a gain on:the disposal of property and equipment of $20,000, respectively. The loss on the disposal of assets during
the year ended December 31, 2002 is primarily attributable to the write down of assets located in the Suwanee, Limerick, and
Maidenhead offices.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization decreased 65.3% to $4.2 million, or 47.0% of total revenues, in 2002, from $12.2 million, or
69.1% of total revenues, in 2001. The decrease is primarily the result of adopting SFAS 142, effective January 1, 2002, which requires
that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized. The amortization during 2002 relates to
intangible assets with definite lives. The Company recorded $455,000 and $909,000 of amortization expense related to intangible
assets with definite lives during the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company recorded $7.6
million of amortization expense related to goodwill during the twelve months ended December 31, 2001. As a result of adopting SFAS
142, the Company did not record amortization expense related to goodwill during 2002.

Loss on Impairment of Investments

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded a loss on impairment of investments of approximately $16.5
million. These losses were necessitated by other than temporary losses to the value of investments the Company had made in privately
held companies and marketable securities of one publicly traded company. The privately held companies are primarily early-stage
companies and are subject to significant risk due to their limited operating history and volatile industry-based economic conditions. As
of December 31, 2001, all investments but one had been written off. The remaining balance, representing a single investment and
valued at $200,000 in the accompanying December 31, 2001 balance sheet, was sold and cash of $200,000 was received during the
first quarter of 2002.

Interest Income

Interest income decreased 62.8% to $2.4 million in 2002, or 27.0% of total revenues, from $6.6 million, or 37.2% of total
revenues, in 2001. The decrease in interest income was due to lower levels of cash available for investment and lower interest rates.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased 1.3% to $225,000 in 2002 from $228,000 in 2001. In March of 2000, the Company entered into a $5.0
million borrowing arrangement with an interest rate of 4.5% with Wachovia Capital Investments, Inc. The interest expense in 2002
and 2001 is primarily related to this borrowing arrangement.

Income Taxes

As a result of the operating losses incurred since the Company's inception, no provision or benefit for income taxes was recorded
in 2002 or in 2001.

16




Comparison of Resuits of Operations Between the Years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
Revenues

Total Revenues. Total revenues decreased 49.5% to $17.7 million in 2001 from $35.0 million in 2000. The decrease in total
revenues resulted primarily from a decrease in license revenue due to the softening demand for business-to-business software and a
decline in the information technology market generally. For the year ended December 31, 2001, three customers accounted for more
than 10% each, totaling $6.2 million or 35.3% of total revenue. The percentage of total revenue recognized from these three customers
was 12.2%, 11.9%, and 11.2%. For the year ended December 31, 2000, one customer accounted for more than 10%, totaling $4.0
million or 11.6% of total revenue.

License Fees. License fees decreased 68.4% to $7.8 million, or 44.2% of total revenues, in 2001 from $24.7 million, or 70.5% of
total revenues, in 2000. The decrease in license fees was the result of a decrease in the amount of software licensed. This decrease is
due to the factors discussed above.

Services Fees. Services fees decreased 4.5% to $9.9 million from $10.3 million in 2001, but increased as a percentage of total
revenues to 55.8% in 2001 from 29.5% in 2000. This decrease is primarily attributable to a decrease in implementation and training
services, a direct result of the decrease in the amount of software licensed, partially offset by an increase in maintenance fees.

Cost of Revenues

Total Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased 0.6% to $13.1 million, or 74.3% of total revenues, during the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared to $13.1 million, or 37.3% of total revenues, during the same period in 2000. The increase in the total
cost of revenues and increase in percentage of total revenues is primarily a result of a change in the mix of revenue to services fees
from license fees, which historically have a higher cost of revenues. :

Cost of License Fees. Cost of license fees increased to $211,000 in 2001 from $154,000 in 2000. Cost of license fees includes
royalties and software duplication and distribution costs. The increase in cost of license fees is primarily attributable to an increase in
royalty fees paid by the Company pursuant to equipment manufacturer agreements for certain of its applications. The cost of license
fees may vary from period to period depending on the product mix licensed, but remain a small percentage of license fees.

Cost of Services Fees. Cost of services fees increased 0.2% to $12.9 million, or 131.0% of total services fees, in 2001 compared
to $12.9 million, or 124.9% of total services fees, in 2000. The increase in the cost of services -fees was primarily attributable to
restructuring costs and an increase in personnel related costs partially offset by a decrease in consulting fees. The Company incurred
$1.0 million of expense related to employee separation and related benefit costs and $0.2 million of facility closure costs incurred as
part of the Company's restructuring initiative. The Company had an average of 21.7% more employees during the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared.to the same period during 2000. The consulting fees related to subcontracted services were
approximately $422,000 during the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to approximately $2.4 million during the year ended
December 31, 2000. :

Research and Development, Exclusive of Noncash Expense

Research and development expenses decreased 27.6% to $16.2 million, or 91.8% of total revenues, in 2001 from $22.4 million, or
63.9% of total revenues, in 2000. Research and development expenses decreased primarily due to decreased consulting fees incurred
to develop the Company's products partially offset by an increase in personnel related costs, restructuring costs of $217,000 incurred
during 2001 and a $600,000 fee incurred during 2001 as a result of terminating a services agreement with a development partner.
Consulting fees decreased to approximately $3.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2001 from approximately $12.3 million
during the year ended December 31, 2000. The Company had an average of 6.5% more employees in the research and development
area during 2001 compared to the same period of 2000.

Noncash Research and Development Expense
Noncash research and development expenses of approximately $424,000 were recognized during 2000.
In-Process Research and Development Expense

In-Process Research and Development (“IPR&D”) expense was approximately $8.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2000. The Company recorded this expense in the second quarter of 2000 related to its acquisition of the SAI/Redeo Companies on
May 31, 2000 (the “Valuation Date™).
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At the Valuation Date, the SAI/Redeo Companies had technology under development that had not demonstrated technological or
commercial feasibility. As of the Valuation Date, the projects associated with the IPR&D efforts had not yet reached technological
feasibility and the TPR&D had no alternative future use in the event that the proposed products did not prove to be feasible. These
development efforts fall within the definition of IPR&D contained in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 2.

At the Valuation Date, the technologies were approximately 70.5% complete. The acquired in-process technologies were
originally anticipated to become commercially viable in years 2000, 2001, and 2002. Expenditures to complete the acquired in-process
technologies were expected to total approximately $3.5 million. The initial development and commercial release of the Company's
Settlement product was completed during the third quarter of 2000. During the year ended December 31, 2001, 23.0% of the
Company's license revenue was derived from licensing the Settlement product. During the year ended December 31, 2000, 12.8% of
the Company's license revenue was derived from licensing the Company's Settlement product.

Valuation of IPR&D: Amounts allocated to IPR&D were calculated using established valuation techniques in the high
technology industry and the Company expensed such amounts in the quarter that the acquisition was consummated because
technological feasibility had not been achieved and no alternative future uses had been established. Consistent with the Company's
policy for internally developed technology, the Company concluded that the IPR&D had no alternative future use after taking into
consideration the potential for usage of the technology in different products, resale of the software, and internal usage.

Upon consummation of the SAI/Redeo acquisition, the Company immediately recognized expense of $8.3 million representing
the acquired IPR&D that had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future use. The value assigned to
acquired IPR&D was determined by identifying products under research in areas for which technological feasibility had not been
established. The IPR&D technology was then segmented into two classifications: (i) IPR&D - completed and (ii) IPR&D - to-be-
completed, giving explicit consideration to the value created by research and development efforts of SAI/Redeo prior to the
acquisition and to be created by the Company after the acquisition. These value creation efforts were estimated by considering the
following major factors: (i) time-based data, (il) cost-based data, and (iii) complexity-based data. The value of the IPR&D was
determined using a discounted cash flow model similar to the income approach.

From the revenue estimates, operating expense estimates, including cost of sales, general and administrative, selling and
marketing, income taxes and a use charge for contributory assets, were deducted to arrive at operating income. Revenue growth rates
were estimated by management for each product and gave consideration to relevant market sizes and growth factors, expected industry
trends, the anticipated nature and timing of new product introductions by us and our competitors, individual product sales cycles, and
the estimated life of each product's underlying technology. Operating expense estimates reflect the Company's historical expense
ratios. The resulting operating income stream was discounted to reflect its present value at the date of the acquisition. The rate used to
discount the net cash flows from the purchased IPR&D was 28%, which is equal to the weighted average cost of capital of the
Company. To date, actual revenues attributable to the IPR&D have been lower than the original projections.

Sales and Marketing, Exclusive of Noncash Expense

Sales and marketing éxpenses decreased 24.7% to $27.3 million, or 154.4% of total revenues, in 2001 from $36.2 million, or
103.5% of total revenues, in 2000. The decrease was primarily attributable to the reduction of sales and marketing personnel, a
decrease in variable compensation as a result of lower license revenue during 2001, and a reduction of promotional activities
associated with building market awareness of the Company's e-commerce products. The Company experienced a significant increase
in sales and marketing expenses in the fourth quarter of 2000 due in large part to advertising commitments associated with the
Company's branding campaign. The Company had an average of 12.6% fewer sales and marketing employees during 2001 compared
to the same period in 2000.

Noncash Sales and Marketing Expense

During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, non-cash sales and marketing expenses of approximately $6.7 million and
$7.0 million, respectively, were recognized in connection with sales and marketing agreements signed by the Company during the
fourth quarter of 1999 and the first quarter of 2000.

General and Administrative, Exclusive of Noncash Expense

General and administrative expenses, including the provision for doubtful accounts, decreased 5.1% to $14.9 million in 2001 from
$15.7 million in 2000. As a percentage of total revenues, general and administrative expenses increased to 84.4% in 2001 from 44.9%
in 2000. Included in general and administrative expenses is a provision for doubtful accounts of $5.5 million and $5.8 million for the
years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in general and administrative expenses was primarily
attributable to decreases in personnel related costs and a decrease in the provision for doubtful accounts. The Company had an average
of 8.5% fewer general and administrative employees during 2001 compared to the same period in 2000.
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Noncash General and Administrative Expense

Noncash general and administrative expenses decreased to approximately $252,000, or 1.4% of total revenues, in 2001 from
approximately $1.1 million, or 3.1% of total revenues, in 2000. The decrease was primarily attributable to the Company granting
160,000 options to a senior executive during the first quarter of 2000 at an exercise price below the fair market value at the date of
grant. Fifteen percent of these options vested immediately and the remainder vested over four years. The Company immediately
expensed $814,500 associated with the intrinsic value of the vested options and recorded the intrinsic value of the unvested options,
$4.6 million, as deferred compensation. This arrangement was terminated in the fourth quarter of 2000 and all options except those
vesting immediately were forfeited. The Company recognized net compensation expense related to this arrangement of $814,500
during the year ended 2000.

Loss on Impairment of Intangible Assets

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company recognized an intangible asset impairment loss of $36.8 million related to the write-
down of goodwill associated with the acquisition of the SAI/Redeo companies. The Company periodically evaluates the carrying
value of its long-lived assets, including intangibles, according to SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of’. During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company's evaluation of the
performance of the SAI/Redeo companies compared to initial projections, negative economic trends and a decline in industry growth
rate projections indicated that the carrying value of the goodwill exceeded expected cash flows. The $36.8 million write-down was
based on the amount by which the carrying amount of goodwill exceeded fair value.

Gain on Sale of ERP Assets

On October 18, 1999, the Company sold its human resources and financial software business to Geac Computer Systems, Inc. and
Geac Canada Limited. The Company received approximately $13.9 million in proceeds. A gain of $9.4 million was recorded in 1999,
with an additional gain of approximately $1.3 million recorded during 2000, following an escrow settlement.

Gain on Sale of Property and Equipment

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded a gain on the sale of property and equipment of $20,000. The
gain on the disposal of assets during the year ended December 31, 2001 is primarily attributable to the sale of property and equipment
to exiting employees.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization increased 50.2% to $12.2 million, or 69.1% of total revenues, in 2001, from $8.1 million, or 23.2%
of total revenues, in 2000. This increase is primarily the result of the Company's amortization of its intangible assets associated with
acquisitions completed in the second quarter of 2000.

Loss on Impairment of Investments

During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded a loss on impairment of investments of
approximately $16.5 million and $4.1 million, respectively. These losses were necessitated by other than temporary losses to the value
of investments the Company had made in privately held companies and marketable securities of one publicly traded company. The
privately held companies are primarily early-stage companies and are subject to significant risk due to their limited operating history
and volatile industry-based economic conditions. As of December 31, 2001, all investments but one have been written off. The
remaining balance representing a single investment and valued at $200,000 in the accompanying December 31, 2001 balance sheet,
was sold and cash of $200,000 was received during the first quarter of 2002.

Interest Income

Interest income decreased 39.7% to $6.6 million in 2001, or 37.2% of total revenues, from $10.9 million, or 31.1% of total
revenues, in 2000. The decrease in interest income was due to lower levels of cash available for investment and lower interest rates.

Interest Expense and Amortization of Debt Discount

Interest expense decreased 34.5% to $228,000 in 2001 from $348,000 in 2000. This decrease in interest expense is primarily due
to higher levels of debt in the first quarter of 2000 as compared to 2001. In March of 2000, the Company entered into a $5.0 million
borrowing arrangement with an interest rate of 4.5% with Wachovia Capital Investments, Inc. The interest expense in 2001 is
primarily related to this borrowing arrangement.
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In 1999, the Company entered into financing agreements for $7.0 million. In connection with the financing, the Company issued
warrants valued at approximately $982,000 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model as debt discount to be amortized over the
life of the financing agreement. The entire $7.0 million plus interest was paid prior to the end of the first quarter of 2000. As a result,
the entire value of the warrants was amortized as a debt discount in the quarter ended March 31, 2000.

Income Taxes

As a result of the operating losses incurred since the Company's inception, no provision or benefit for income taxes was recorded
in 2001 or in 2000.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company's cash and cash equivalents decreased to $42.2 million at December 31, 2002 from $55.6 million at December 31,
2001. Marketable securities decreased to $52.9 million at December 31, 2002 from $65.3 million at December 31, 2001. The overall
decrease in cash and cashiequivalents and marketable securities is due primarily to cash used in operating activities partially offset by
cash provided from investing activities and financing activities. '

Cash used in operating activities was approximately $27.3 million during 2002. The cash used was primarily attributable to the
Company's net loss and to decreases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, deferred revenue, accounts receivable and prepaid and
other current assets. Cash used in operating activities was approximately $42.4 million during 2001. The cash used was primarily
attributable to the Company's net loss and to decreases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities partially offset by an increase in
deferred revenue. ‘

Cash provided by investing activities was approximately $13.4 million during 2002. The cash provided by investing activities
during 2002 was primarily attributable to the sale and maturity of marketable securities and proceeds related to the sale of the e-
commerce assets partially offset by purchases of marketable securities and property and equipment. Cash used for investing activities
was approximately $20.8 million during 2001. The cash was used for purchases of investments, marketable securities, and property
and equipment partially offset by the sale and maturity of marketable securities.

Cash provided by financing activities was approximately $519,000 during 2002 and approximately $458,000 during 2001. The
cash provided by financing activities during 2002 and 2001 was primarily attributable to proceeds from shares issued under the
employee stock purchase plan and stock option exercises.

The Company's accounts receivable potentially subject the Company to credit risk, as collateral is generally not required. As of
December 31, 2002, four customers accounted for more than 10% each, totaling $814,000 or 77.3% of the gross accounts receivable
balance on that date. The percentage of total accounts receivable due from these four customers was 42.3%, 12.4%, 11.5% and 11.1%,
respectively, at December 31, 2002. As of December 31, 2001, four customers accounted for more than 10% each, totaling $1.7
million or 58.1% of the gross accounts receivable balance on that date. The percentage of total accounts receivable due from these
four customers was 17.2%, 15.2%, 13.8% and 11.9%, respectively, at December 31, 2001.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, one customer accounted for more than 10%, totaling $2.7 million, or 29.9% of total
revenue. During the year ended December 31, 2001, three customers accounted for more than 10% each, totaling $6.2 million, or
35.3% of total revenue. The percentage of total revenue recognized from these three customers was 12.2%, 11.9% and 11.2%,
respectively.

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company made an equity investment of $2.0 million in a privately held strategic partner.
Prior to 2001, the Company made equity investments of $17.7 million in eleven privately held companies. The Company's equity
interest in these entities ranged from 2.5% to 12.5% and the Company is accounting for these investments using the cost method of
accounting. During 2001 and 2000 the Company recorded charges of $15.4 million and $4.1 million, respectively, for other than
temporary losses on these investments. These companies are primarily early-stage companies and are subject to significant risk due to
their limited operating history and current economic and capital market conditions. The Company has not recognized any material
revenue from these companies during 2002 or 2001. During the year ended December 31, 2000 the Company recognized $16.0
million in total revenue from these companies.

On December 6, 2002, the Company granted options to purchase 1,250,000 shares of common stock to three senior executives.
450,000 of these options were issued with an exercise price of $5.35 per share, 400,000 were issued with an exercise price of $7.50
per share and 400,000 were issued with an exercise price of $10.00 per share. The options issued at 85.35 per share were issued at less
than the fair market value 'on that date of $5.45 and will result in compensation charges of $45,000 recognized over the vesting period.
Twenty percent of the options vest annually over five years on the anniversary of the date of grant.

20




At December 31, 2002, the Company has net operating loss, capital loss, research and experimentation credit and alternative
minimum tax credit carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes of approximately $114.1 million, $13.6 million, $1.3 million
and $53,000, respectively, which expire in varying amounts beginning in the year 2009. The Company also has incurred foreign losses
in the amount of approximately U.S.$23.2 million that are available to offset future taxable income in foreign jurisdictions. The
Company's ability to benefit from certain net operating loss carryforwards will be limited under section 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code if the Company is deemed to have had an ownership change of greater than 50%. Accordingly, certain net operating losses may
not be realizable in future years due to this limitation.

During the first six months of 2000, the Company issued 25,000 warrants and approximately 39,000 shares of the Company's
common stock to certain strategic partners, all of whom are also customers, in exchange for their participation in the Company's sales
and marketing efforts. The sales and marketing agreement signed with one strategic partner also included an obligation to make cash
payments of $300,000 in each of the last two years of the related agreement. The Company recorded the fair value of these warrants,
common stock, and cash payments as deferred sales and marketing costs of approximately $454,000, $3.8 million, and $600,000,
respectlvely Deferred sales and marketing costs were amortized over the term of the sales and marketing agreements, which range
from nine months to five years.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the sales and marketing agreement with one customer was terminated requiring a charge of
$1.4 million to write-off the remaining balance in deferred sales and marketing costs. Also, as a result of the termination, the
Company is no longer obligated to make cash payments of $300,000 for each of the last two years of the related agreement.

At the 2002 annual meeting of our stockholders held on May 21, 2002, Warren B. Kanders, Burtt R. Ehrlich and Nicholas
Sokolow were elected by our stockholders to serve on our Board of Directors. Under the leadership of these new directors, our Board
of Directors adopted a strategy of seeking to enhance stockholder value. By pursuing opportunities to redeploy our assets through an
acquisition of, or merger with, an operating business that will serve as a platform company, using our substantial cash, other non-
operating assets (including, to the extent available, our net operating loss carry-forward) and our publicly-traded stock to enhance
future growth. The strategy also sought to reduce significantly our cash expenditure rate by targeting, to the extent practicable, our
overhead expenses to the amount of our interest income until the completion of an acquisition or merger. While the Company's
expenses have been significantly reduced, management current]y believes that the Company's interest income will not exceed its
operating expenses during 2003.

The following summarizes the Company's contractual obligations and commercial commitments at December 31, 2002, and the
effect such obligations are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods:

|

Total 2003 2004 005 2006 Thereafter
(in thousands) )
Long-term debt $5,000 5 - $ - $5,000 $ - $-
Operating leases 456 252 96 96 12 -
Total $5,456 252 896 35,096 812 5

In addition to the above commitments, we entered into an oral agreement in 2003 with Kanders & Company pursuant to which we
sublease approximately 1,989 square feet in Greenwich, Connecticut for $9,572 a month (subject to increases every three years). The
agreement provides for a one-year term and Clarus has the option to renew for up to nine additional one-year terms. Under the terms
of the agreement, we are required to pay approximately $325,000 in build-out construction costs, fixtures, equipment and furnishings
related to preparation of the space. In the event Clarus was to undergo a change in control, our remaining rent through the tenth
anniversary of the commencement of the agreement would immediately accelerate and the present value of such rent would be placed
in escrow for the benefit of Kanders & Company. In January 2003, the Company obtained a standby letter of credit in the amount of
$118,345 to secure lease obligations for the Greenwich, Connecticut facility that is being constructed. Kanders & Company
reimburses Clarus a pro rata portion of the $3,000 annual cost of the letter of credit.

The Company has sub-leased its facility near Toronto, Canada that will provide sub-lease income of approximately $4,000 per
month through January, 2006 that will offset some of the above obligations.

In December 2002, the Company executed a lease termination agreement pursuant to which it agreed to abandon its principal
facility in Suwanee, Georgia on March 31, 2003. Pursuant to the terms of the termination agreement, the Company paid to the lessor
$2.9 million in cash, which has been included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying statement of operations for
2002. The lease is scheduled to terminate March 31, 2003.

The Company does not have commercial commitments under capital leases, lines of credit, standby lines of credit, guaranties,
standby repurchase obligations or other such arrangements, other than the standby letter of credit described above.
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The Company does not engage in any transactions or have relationships or other arrangements with an unconsolidated entity, nor
any special purpose or similar entities or other off-balance sheet arrangements.

Related-Party Transactions

In 2003, we entered into an oral agreement with Kanders & Company pursuant to which we sublease approximately 1,989 square
feet in Greenwich, Connecticut for $9,572 a month {subject to increases every three years). The agreement provides for a one-year
term and Clarus has the option to renew for up to nine additional one-year terms. Under the terms of the agreement, we are required to
pay approximately $325,000 in build-out construction costs, fixtures, equipment and furnishings related to preparation of the space. In
the event Clarus was to undergo a change in control, our remaining rent through the tenth anniversary of the commencement of the
agreement would immediately accelerate and the present value such rent would be placed in escrow for the benefit of Kanders &
Company. In January 2003, the Company obtained a standby letter of credit in the amount of $118,345 to secure lease obligations for
the Greenwich, Connecticut facility that is being constructed. Kanders & Company reimburses Clarus a pro rata portion of the $3,000
annual cost of the letter of credit. Kanders & Company is owned and controlled by the Company's Executive Chairman, Warren B.
Kanders.

After the closing of the sale of the e-commerce software business, Steven Jeffery, resigned as the Company's Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of tthe Board of Directors. Under Mr. Jeffery's employment agreement, he is entitled to receive a severance
payment equal to one year's salary of $250,000, payable over one year. In addition, Mr. Jeffery entered into a three-year consulting
agreement with the Company and will receive total consideration of $250,000 payable over the three-year term.

During December 2002, the Company reimbursed legal fees and other expenses in the amount of $531,343 incurred by Warren B.
Kanders, Burtt R. Ehrlich, and Nicholas Sokolow, all of whom are members of the Company's Board of Directors, in connection with
their successful solicitation of proxies for the May 21, 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Company recorded this amount in
the fourth quarter of 2002 as a general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations,

On November 1, 2001, the Company engaged E.Com Consulting to perform market research and provide recommendations
concerning the needs and lopportunities associated with the Company's settlement product. E.Com Consulting subcontracted with e-
RM International, Inc. (“e-RMI”) to assist with a portion of this project. ¢-RMI is a Delaware corporation whose sole shareholder is
Chrismark Enterprises LLC. Chrismark Enterprises LLC is owned by Mark Johnson, a former director of the Company and his wife.
The contract period of the-engagement was November 1, 2001 through January 31, 2002 for which the Company agreed to pay total
professional fees of $50,000 plus out-of-pocket expenses. Of this amount, $7,805 was paid to e-RMI. The Company expensed a total
of $42,164 in connection with the engagement during 2001 and had a balance due E.Com of $34,359 at December 31, 2001 that is
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The contract was terminated by
the Company during January 2002. No expense was incurred during 2002 and all amounts due E.Com were paid in January, 2002. At
the May 21, 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, Mr. Johnson was not re-elected a director of the Company.

On February 7, 2002 Todd Hewlin joined the Company's Board of Directors. Mr. Hewlin is a managing director of The Chasm
Group, LLC, a consultancy organization focusing on helping technology companies develop and implement strategies that create and
sustain market leadership positions for their core products while building shareholder value and a sustainable competitive advantage.
During 2001, the Company engaged The Chasm Group to assist the Company on various strategic and organizational issues. The
contract period of the engagement was November 15, 2001 through February 15, 2002 for which the company agreed to professional
fees of $225,000 plus out-of-pocket expenses. The Company expensed a total of $145,000 during 2002 that is included in general and
administrative in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and expensed $131,000 during 2001. The Company
expensed an additional $54,000, outside the original engagement, during 2002 related to further services performed by The Chasm
Group that is included in general and administrative in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. At the May 21, 2002
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, Mr. Hewlin was not elected a director of the Company.

In the opinion of management, the rates, terms and considerations of the transactions with the related parties described above
approximate those that the Company would have received in transactions with unaffiliated parties.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB
No. 51.” This interpretation addresses the consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities as defined in the
interpretation. The Interpretation applies immediately to variable interests in variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003,
and to variable interests in variable interest entities obtained after January 31, 2003. The application of this Interpretation is not
expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.
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In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, Transition and Disclosure, an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123”. SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation™, to provide
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. In addition, this Statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in both
annual and interim financial statements. Certain of the disclosure modifications are required for fiscal years ending after December 15,
2002 and are included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness to Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57 and 107 and a
rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34”. This Interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim
and annual financial statements about its obligations under guarantees issued. Interpretation No. 45 also clarifies that a guarantor is
required to recognize, at inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken. The initial recognition and
measurement provisions of the Interpretation are applicable to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002 and are not
expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial statements. The disclosure requirements are effective for financial
statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. The Company does not currently have any guarantees
requiring disclosure in the notes to these consolidated financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”. SFAS 146
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)”. The provisions of SFAS 146 are effective for exit or disposal activities that are
initiated after December 31, 2002, with early application encouraged. The Company does not believe that SFAS 146 will have a
material impact on its financial statements.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 13, and Technical Corrections”. SFAS 145 rescinds SFAS 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt”, SFAS
44, “Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers” and SFAS 64, “Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking Fund
Requirements”. SFAS 145 amends SFAS 13, “Accounting for Leases”, eliminating an inconsistency between the required accounting
for sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain lease modifications with similar economic effects as sale-
leaseback transactions. This statement also amends other existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical corrections,
clarify meanings, or describe their applicability under certain conditions. The provisions related to SFAS 13 are effective for
transactions occurring after May 15, 2002. All other provisions of the statement are effective for financial statements issued on.or after
May 15, 2002. The adoption of SFAS 145 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143 “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS 143 addresses financial
accounting and reporting obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement
costs. The provisions of SFAS 143 are effective for the Company's 2003 fiscal year. The Company does not believe that SFAS 143
will have a material impact on its financial statements.

Quarterly Data

The following table sets forth selected quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 (in thousands, except per
share data). The operating results are not indicative of results for any future period.

2002
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
REVENMUES. . . .v et e e $3,941 $2,544 $1,516 $1,033
OPerating LSS, . ... covuiei it (7,139) (21,2006) (4,515) (7,196)
N 0SS, ettt e e e (6,457) (20,571) (3,989) (6,796)
Net loss per share:
BaSIC. i on ittt (0.41) (1.32) (0.26) (0.43)

DA, ..o et (0.41) (1.32) (0.26) (0.43)
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2001

First ' Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
REVENUES. ...\ttt ettt re e $4,840 $6,195 $3,124 $3,514
OPErating 1088, . ... uvneiit e (22,021) (19,116) (15,629) (53,065)
N A oL T U UPOPTP (22,761) (20,787) (16,897) (59,408)
Net loss per share: ‘
BasiC. i e (1.47) (1.34) (1.09) (3.82)
Diluted. ..o e (147 (1.34) (1.09) (3.82)

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The following discussion concerning the Company's market risk involves forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and
uncertainties. Actual results could differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. The Company is exposed
to market risk related to foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and investment values. The Company currently does not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge these risks or for trading purposes.

Foreign Currency Risk

Substantially all of the revenue recognized to date by the Company has been denominated in U.S. dollars, including sales made
internationally. As a result, a strengthening of the U.S. dollar could make the Company's products less competitive in foreign markets.
In addition, the Company:has foreign subsidiaries which subject the Company to risks associated with foreign currency exchange rates
and weak economic conditions in these foreign markets. An increase or decrease in foreign currency exchange rates of 10% would not
have a material effect on the Company's financial position or results of operations.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed ito market risk from changes in interest rates primarily through its investing activities. The primary objective
of the Company's investment activities is to manage interest rate exposure by investing in short-term, highly liquid investments. As a
result of this strategy, the Company believes that there is very little exposure. The Company's investments are carried at market value,
which approximates cost. An increase or decrease in interest rates of 10% would not have a material effect on the Company's financial
position or results of operations.

Investments

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company made an equity investment of $2.0 million in a privately held strategic partner. Prior
to 2001, the Company made equity investments of $17.7 million in eleven privately held companies. The Company's equity interest in
these entities ranged from 2.5% to 12.5% and the Company is accounting for these investments using the cost method of accounting.
The Company has not recognized any material revenue from these companies during 2002 and 2001. During the year ended December
31, 2000 the Company recognized $16.0 million in total revenue from these companies. During 2001 and 2000 the Company recorded
charges of $15.4 million and $4.1 million, respectively, for other than temporary losses on these investments. These companies are
primarily early-stage companies and are subject to significant risk due to their limited operating history and current economic and
capital market conditions. The remaining balance, representing a single investment and valued at $200,000 in the accompanying
December 31, 2001 balance sheet, was sold and cash of $200,000 was received during the first quarter of 2002. The Company
continues to retain an ownership interest in several of these companies although they have been written down to a zero cost basis in
the Company's consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2002.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Board of Directors
and Stockhaolders Clarus Corporation:

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of Clarus Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and comprehensive loss, and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company's management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Clarus Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

As discussed in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company (i) sold substantially all of its operating assets on
December 6, 2002, and (ii) changed its method of accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets in 2002.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
February 28, 2003

26



CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2002 and 2001
(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Amounts)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents.
Marketable securities. .....
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $586 and 3636 in
2002 and 2001, TESPECHIVELY .ove.eriiiirireie ettt e et bees ot en e e e e ens

Deferred marketing costs, current. ...
Prepaids and other current assets.. .
ASSELS HEIA FOT SALE 1..vviiii ittt e e e e ettt e et b e e ae et e b s s e st et e e Aot e b ea b eaete e es e be e ntan s eans s ebene

TOtAL CUTTEIE BSSETS. o.vrvvererveririaererieaseesere e aeserersaesasesesasseaessiosassaseassabtsieraesassassabeasthreastecassasssesabeseier e snesssenasaatetasea
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMEN T, NE T ..ottt et e e et e e e

OTHER ASSETS:
Deferred marketing costs, net of current portion
Investments
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization 0 $12,932 10 2001 ....coviiiviiioicieieie st
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $1,676 in 200) .
Deposits and Other IONE-TEIM @SSRS, ... iieruiieeriieisi et ar et as s er et s bbb e b rasestaeteea e e eaceseshmer se e cacne e

OtAL BSBRIS. oeiiii i et e et e et e e e ekttt b e ettt e h et R et R e ek ekt eR e re e ea b m et ar e b s s

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES: .
Accounts payable and 2cerued HabilIHES ....oo.coiv it cmecrcenevearvecan s eees s osnecaeas s e o e e renn e casee
Deferred revenue
Current portion of long-term debt
Liabilities to be assumed related to assets held fOr Sale. ... e

TOMAl CUITETIE HHADIIITIES. oo ceieiec ettt ettt et es e e b ee b ea b e st eaea st ee et esbe st arearenaenes
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Deferred revenue
Long-term debt .... .
Other 10NG-1ETM HADIIIES. 1.....v vt ot srietercerecsn ettt ottt ettt cor et s e s resassssanssanissesasransasanacrsasssoserencn

TOUA] HADIHTIES 1.ttt ettt e et ee et e te s bbb e s bt e bt s b s s ek ea a2t hamt et ae st e nn e as s s enenenbans
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 12)

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $.0001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none iSSUEd. ......coveirorieie e
Common stock, $.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized;

15,762,707 and 15,638,712 shares issued and 15,687,707 and 15,563,712 shares

outstanding in 2002 and 2001, T@SPECHIVELY. ..o e
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit. ...cocoveevircrnnn
Less treasury stock, 75,000 shares at cost...
Accumulated other COMPreNENSIVE IMCOME .....oi.iiiiiiiiii e e et et
Deferted COMPENSAtION. ..oivviiiiis ettt et ettt sttt es b e te e eb et te e bt ek e et b st es s nae ek £ tae e e b b e neets

Total StOCKNOLAETS" BQUILY. 1....euiiitieir ettt et s b et bar e n st ema

Total liabilities and stOCKNOIAETS’ @QUILY. ..e.vivoivr ettt et ettt ens s cbsen et s

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2002

$42,225
52,885

467

$1,936
1,248
5,000
220

8,404

2

361,715
(272,436
(2)

146
(65)

89,360

$97.764

2001

$55,628
65,264

2,329
391
2,467
396

126,475

7.198

98
200
6,801
4,014
488

$145,274

$6,370
4,850

620
11,840

1,841
5,000
265

18,946

2
360,670
(234,623)

2)
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
{In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

REVENUES:
TLICEINSE FEES .viueiieiirietieieire ettt eb sttt e b et Lok e d etk et e b es bt nenao b en e
SEIVICES TEES. oottt ettt et a e et e en e asan Rt ea bR et R A ek eeeue e reeue s b e tebearenbin

Total revenues. ............... e ettt e e e s sttt
COST OF REVENUES:

License fees ....
SEIVICES TEES. Lovtieriirererictir ettt et bt s et e sttt e b st et en s R ne st eeres ekt e et e e e s anae b st s

TOUR] COSE OF FEVEMUES. ......eevirieiet e caricieviir et er s es ot ies e et st s b et m et rnetsereie

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Research and development, exclusive of noncash expense
Noncash rescarch and development...........c.ccccneininne
In-process research and development.
Sales and marketing, exclusive of noncash expense.
Noncash sales and marketing.........occooineioiencvniennn
General and administrative, exclusive of noncash expense.
Provision for doubtful accounts. ........ccovcviiiociniccine
Nongcash general and administrative.
Loss on impairment of goodwill .........
Loss on impairment of intangible assets.....
Gain on sale of e-commerce assets to Epicor.
Gain on sale of ERP assets to Geac....................
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property and equipment. ..
Depreciation and amortization.........co.cceeeerenen.

Total operating expenses. ..

OPERATING LOSS L.ttt s s ar s bbb ans
GAIN ON FOREIGN CURRENCY'TRANSACTIONS. .....cociviiiianiiariiincccorimcansecmsesiaseeniieenesicsecsicniers
GAINALOSS) ON SALE OF MARKETABLE SECURITIE
LOSS ON IMPAIRMENT OF MARKETABLE SECURITIES AND INVESTMENTS.
AMORTIZATION OF DEBT DISCOUNT......ccociiiimic i

INTEREST INCOME. .....ccoovimiiinicciincinie
INTEREST EXPENSE

NET LOSS

NET LOSS PER SHARE--BASIC AND DILUTED

WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING--BASIC AND

2002 2001 2000
$2,808 $7,807 $24,686
6.226 9.866 10,327
9,034 17,673 35,013
26 211 154
5,498 12,921 12,901
5,524 13,132 13,055
7,263 16,220 22,390
- - 424

- - 8,300
7,488 27,254 36,230
450 6,740 7,001
12,574 9,381 9,897
(560) 5,537 5,824
- 252 1,098
6,801 36,756 -
3,559 - -
(514) - -
- - (1,347)
2,262 (20) -
4,243 12,212 8,132
43,566 114,372 97.949
(40,056)  (109,831) (75,991)
12 107 -

15 (1 (100)

- (16,461) (4,128)

- - (982)
2,441 6,570 10,902
(225) (228) (348)
S(37813) S8(119.854) 5(70.647)
$(2.42) 3072 3490
13.615 15,530 14,420

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND

CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
(In Thousands)
Treasury Accumulated
Common Stock  Additional Stock Other Total
Pajd-In Accumulated Comprehensive Deferred Stockholders'
Shares  Amount Capital Deficit Shares Amount Income (loss} Compensation Equity
BALANCES, December 31, 1999.... 11,601 $1 $77.,008 ($44,122) 5 $(2) §-- $(270) $32,615
Exercise of warrants............. 32 - -- - - - - - --
Issuance of warrants in
connection with marketing
and research and development
agreements........ - - 878 - - - - - 878
Exercise of stock options.. 542 1 3,074 -- - .- -- -~ 3,075
Issuance of shares under
employee stock purchase plans. 4 -- 34 -- -- -- -- -~ 34
Issuance of stock options with
exercise prices below fair
market value..................... - - 5,696 - -- - - (5.696) -
Amortization of deferred
compensation.................... - - - - - - - 1,098 1,098
Cancellation of stock options.. - - (4,616) -- -- -- -- 4,616 -
Issuance of stock and
stock options in
acquisition of SAL............... 1,148 - 32,153 - - - - - 32,153
Issuance of stock in secondary
offering........oooeeiiiiin, 2,243 -- 244,427 - - - - - 244,427
Issuance of stock in connection
connection with marketing
agreements..........oo.ovueinna. 39 - 3,761 - - - - - 3,761
Net10ss... i - - - (70,647) - - - - (70,647)
Foreign currency translation
adjustment.............on -- -~ - -~ -- - {19 - (19)
Unrealized loss on marketable
securities. ... - - - - - - (553) - (553)
Total comprehensive loss........
BALANCES, December 31, 2000..... 15,609 2 362415 (114,769) (75) @ (572) (252) 246,822
Amontization of deferred
COMPENSALON. . ....vveeeenene. - - - - - - - 252 252
Exercise of stock options......... 63 - 198 - - - - - 198
Issuance of shares under
employee stock purchase
purchase plans..................... 55 - 260 - - - - - 260
Retirement of shares
related to the
SAI acquisition..................... (88) - (2,203) - - - - - (2,203)
- - - (119,854) - - - - (119,854)
Increase in foreign currency
translation adjustment............. - - -- - - - 87 - 87
Increase in unrealized gain on
marketable securities............... - - - - - - 766 - 766
Total comprehensive loss
BALANCES, December 31, 2001...... 15,639 (2) 360,670 (234,623) (75) (2) 281 - 126,328
Exercise of stock options.......... 113 -- 400 - -- -- -~ -- 400
Issuance of shares under
employee stock purchase plans... 19 - 19 - - - - - 119
Retirernent of shares related
to the termination of
marketing agreement................ (8) -- 39) -- -- -- -~ -- (39)
Modification to stock options...... - -- 500 -- -- -- - -- 500
Net 10SS e -- -- -- (37,813) -- - -- -- (37,813)
Issuance of stock options with
exercise prices below fair
market value................ -- -- 65 -- -- -- -- (65) -
Increase in foreign currency
translation adjustment............... - - - - - .- 10 -- 10
Decrease in unrealized gain on
marketable securities................ - - -- -- -- - (145) - (145)
Tota] comprehensive 1088 ..........
BALANCES, December 31, 2002 15,763 $2 3361715  $(272.436) (25) $(2) $146 $(65) $89.360

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

{In Thousands)
2002 2001 2000
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
L TS5, - 1eviuient it e et eteie st ettt et e b b et et s E R bR ko8 kRS R £ ae ek bR AR b et h Rk ek s b e r ket ebn $(37,813) $(119,854) $(70,647)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 3,788 3,750 2,770
AMOTtiZation Of INTANZIDIE ASSELS 1..vvvevieriirerirt ettt em e ettt ettt a b eb e ear et ebs e netasca e 455 8,462 5,362
L05S 0N IMPairment of INVESHMENTS ....ccoirriiirierin ettt e en s ses e reere st b et as b et e s iebanenraen - 15,419 4,128
Loss on impairment of intangible assets.. 10,360 36,756 -
Loss on impairment of marketable securities ........... - 1,042 -
(Gain)/loss on sale of marketable securities and other.........cocooovvennee. (15) (11) 100
Noncash interest expense associated with original issue discount on debt... - - 982
In-process research and development ..............coovvorveincriricrninicnns . -- -- 8,300
Provision fOr dOUDIIUL ACCOUNTS ..v.iu.iiiiieiictietti et ettt ettt e e es e ere et e e easseatesieseas et toetereaannsareesseesreeassearenes (560) 5,537 5,824
Noncash research and deVEIOPIMENL EXPENSE. . ..c.iciiiriici it icerinaaaoemieetaerenerresiseeessaastesesaaresssressssssessssesssasensaarasaan - -- 424
Noncash sales and marketing expense............ 450 6,740 7,001
Noncash general and administrative expense. ........... - 252 1,098
Noncash charge due to modification of stock options .. 500 - -
Exchange of software for cost-method investments... - - (12,868)
Gain on sale of e-commerce assets to Epicor...... (514) - --
(Gain)/loss on sale of property and equipment ... 2,262 (20) (1,347)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 2,618 23 (4,567)
Prepaids and other CUITENE @SSELS ........cciiiviiiiiiiiiirie et eb e et e et e 1,203 259 (835)
Deposits and other [Ong-term ASSEtS........cooviiiieiiriiii b 420 (234) (127)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. (4,539) (4,553) 4,934
Deferred revenue. ............... . (5,738) 3,999 (1,407)
Other long-term liabilities ..... [PPSO TSN et (265) 18 46
Net cash used in OPErating ACHIVILIES. .....vco. i et e e e (27.388) . (42.415) (50,849)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES: B
Purchase 0f Marketable SECUTTHES .........ooiiiririeiirct it ettt e bt e e iae et e e sanean s eob e e e s aassba e b e beanbeessasressnnanseereans (123,611) (95.527) (55,648)
Proceeds from the sale and maturity of marketable securities. 135,860 80,185 6,000
Purchase of SAI/Redeo companies, net of cash acquired. - - (30,645)
Purchase of iSold ..., - - (2,433)
Purchase of property and equipment. (182) (3,463) (5,871)
PUICHASE OF INVESHITIENTS ..o..vivivierieririrns it ieiee s ier et caaiseebe st s e et e te e s e s et et o b s es b emt e s s e ases b asssaatseebanrobane st nenes - (2,000) (3,71hH)
Proceeds from sale Of INVESHMENT. «.....c.oceiiiirieriot et st sttt ab et bbb et ae st n e s ese 200 - -
Proceeds from sale of assets, ............ 1,000 - 1,864
Proceeds from sale of property and €qUIPIMETIL. ......cc..cviiioiiiiiiriiicrr it en e coneen 189 - -
Net cash provided by (used in) INVESHNG ACTIVITIES. .......ccrieraririciimiaiaenerterianesmseciencersasassasesesssnsaasasarscosessssnence 13.456 (20,805) (90.464)
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS--(Continued)
Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
(In Thousands, except share amounts)

2002 2001 2000

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock related to secondary

OFFEIINE, 1ottt et es b1 3 a bbb b e - - 244 427
Proceeds from the eXercise 0f STOCK OPIONS ...viviiveiieiiietir ettt sttt eb st se b ens et arenens 400 198 3,075
Proceeds from issuance of common stock related to employee stock

PUTCRASE PIATIS. ..ottt et bbbt s e e et et n e 119 260 34
Proceeds fTOm JONG=LEIT AEDE. .....c.oiiiiiiiiiii ettt ettt bbbt s b aset e en et senenenes - - 5,000
Repayments of long term debt and capital lease OblIAIONS. ........cc.occoivncriinri e -~ - (7,028)
Net cash provided by fIANCING GCHIVITIES ......coviviviviriiicics i st s b 519 458 245,508
Effect of exchange rate change 01 Cash. ...ttt et s 10 87 19)
CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS. ...ttt sttt st {(13,403) (62,675) 104,176
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of YEar. ... e eesissicnsessssenin e 55,628 118,303 14,127
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, €nd Of YEII. ....cccoiiriinirrciecer ettt st e enesnene $42,225 $55,628 $118,303
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE:
Cash PaId 0T INTETESE. ...oviiiiiriiteities ettt e e e et ab e e e eb et st et dn e s es e aaebsr et st aren e et e s arcenene $ 225 §_228 § 348
NONCASH TRANSACTIONS:
Retirement of 7,500 shares related to the termination of a sales and

IDATKELING AZTEETTIENT ... ev e s reorarearar e e esisss e sasearesseasasieses s car e sa s ssas e rasa bbbt casssscasens st $ 39 $ - 3 -
Issuance of warrants to purchase 25,000 shares of common stock in

CONNECLiON With MArKEtiNg AZIEEIMENTS. .. ..iu.vivrroreree et es et ee et cas ettt s e s ch e bees b e emb s enba e § - $ - $ 454
Issuance of warrants to purchase 33,334 shares of common stock in

connection with research & development arrangement. ......ccccovvrviiirnricieiin oot 5 - $ - § 424
Issuance of 39,118 shares of common stock in connection with marketing

AETERIMETILS. ....eeieeieeetett e s et eas s reses e am bt eb s esaer s 1mch b e e e en e e s h s bR e Rt b s s st 5 - $ - $ 3,761
Issuance of 1,148,000 shares of common stock and 163,200 common

stock options in connection with SAT ACQUISTHON. .....cicoiviiiiiinin i 5 - by - $ 32,153
Retirement of 82,500 shares related to SAT acquisition . . . . $ - $ (2,181) $ --
Receipt of marketable securities in satisfaction of trade accounts

TECEIVADBLE. ..ottt et s oot ket n 5 - § - § 1,214

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CLARUS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Organization

Clarus Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries, (the “Company”) prior to the sale of substantially all of its
operating assets in December 2002, developed, marketed, and supported Internet-based business-to-business electronic commerce
solutions that automated the procurement and management of operating resources.

During 2002, the Company adopted a strategic plan to sell or abandon all active software operations and redeploy company
capital to enhance stockholder value. On December 6, 2002, the Company sold the majority of its software operations (comprised of
the eProcurement, Sourcing and Settlement product lines) to Epicor Software Corporation for $1.0 million in cash. Separately, on
January 1, 2003, the Company sold the assets related to the Cashbook product, which were excluded from the Epicor transaction, to an
employee group headquartered in Limerick, Ireland. Therefore, as of December 31, 2002, the Company has discontinued or
abandoned substantially all software operations.

All of the revenues, cost of revenues and a substantial amount of the operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations, relate to the divested products discussed above as well as other discontinued products. The Company is not
expected to recognize any'significant amounts of revenue, costs of revenue or incur operating expenses related to the Company's
software operations in the future.

Management now consists of four senior executive officers and a support staff of one, all of whom are located in Greenwich,
Connecticut. Management lis now engaged in analyzing and evaluating potential acquisition and merger candidates as part of its
strategy to redeploy its cash and cash equivalent assets to enhance stockholder value.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated. The Company's subsidiaries include Clarus International, Inc., Clarus eMEA Ltd.,,
Clarus CSA, Inc., SAI (Ireland) Limited, SAI Recruitment Limited, i2Mobile.com Limited and SAI America Limited.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these financial statements require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The Company continually evaluates its estimates and
assumptions including those related to revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, impairment of long-lived assets,
impairment of investments, and contingencies and litigation. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalenté

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. The Company had approximately $42.2 million and $55.6 million in cash and cash equivalents included in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at December 31, 2002 and 2001 consist of government notes and bonds, commercial paper, corporate debt
and equity securities. The Company accounts for its marketable securities under the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 113, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”. Pursuant to the provisions of
SFAS No. 115, the Company has classified its marketable securities as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities have been
recorded at fair value and related unrealized gains and losses have been excluded from earnings and are reported as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until realized.
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Credit and Customer Concentrations

The Company's accounts receivable potentially subject the Company to credit risk, as collateral is generally not required. As of
December 31, 2002, four customers accounted for more than 10% each, totaling $814,000 or 77.3% of the gross accounts receivable
balance on that date. The percentage of total accounts receivable due from these four customers was 42.3%, 12.4%, 11.5% and 11.1%,
respectively, at December 31, 2002. As of December 31, 2001, four customers accounted for more than 10% each, totaling $1.7
million or 58.1% of the gross accounts receivable balance on that date. The percentage of total accounts receivable due from these
four customers was 17.2%, 15.2%, 13.8% and 11.9%, respectively, at December 31, 2001,

During the year ended December 31, 2002, one customer accounted for more than 10%, totaling $2.7 million, or 29.9% of total
revenue. During the year ended December 31, 2001, three customers accounted for more than 10% each, totaling $6.2 million, or
35.3% of total revenue. The percentage of total revenue recognized from these three customers was 12.2%, 11.9% and 11.2%,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2000, one customer accounted for more than 10%, totaling $4.0 million, or 11.6%
of total revenue.

A significant customer terminated its software license and service agreements with the Company effective August 31, 2002. The
Company refunded $2.5 million to this customer, during the fourth quarter of 2002, for prepaid software license and support fees less
costs incurred by the Company associated with terminating the contract. During the year ended December 31, 2002 revenues
recognized from the Company's agreements with this customer represented 29.9% of the Company's total revenues.

During 2002, 45.2% of the Company's revenue was derived from international markets, and 29.9% was derived from one
customer in the United Kingdom. During 2001, 32.2% of the Company's revenue was derived from international markets, and 12.2%
was derived from one customer in Italy. During 2000, 18.6% of the Company's revenue was derived from international markets, none
of which exceeded 10% in any one country.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of furniture and fixtures, computers and other equipment, purchased software and leasehold
improvements. These assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over periods ranging from one to seven years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful life or the term of the lease. During 2002, the Company abandoned certain
assets located at its principal facilities in Suwanee, GA and its offices in Maidenhead, England and Limerick, Ireland. These fixed
asset amounts and the related accumulated depreciation were written off, resulting in an impairment charge of $2.1 million that is

included in the loss on disposal of property and equipment in the accompanying statement of operations for the year ended December
31, 2002.

Property and equipment are summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31 Useful Life
2002 2001 (in_years)
Computers aNd EQUIPIMIENT.....c..cccvi it cereesarsereene ot et nei s e ene e os st s ean s sre e sae e enas $1,364 $6,590 1-5
Purchased software. ............ 1,005 4,730 1-5
Furmniture and fixtures. ........ 35 1,249 1-7
Leasehold IMPIOVEMENTS. ..o et et et s s v s - 1,330 2-7
2,404 13,899
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization. ...........ccooiivoiviciniice s 1,595 (6,701
Property and €qUIPIMENE, MEL.. ..ot ettt s $809 7.1

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment totaled $3.8 million, $3.8 million, and $2.8 million for
the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company has included purchased software in property and equipment, which represents the cost of purchased integration
software tools. It also includes the cost of licenses to use, embed and sell software tools developed by others. These costs are being
amortized ratably based on the projected revenue associated with these purchased or licensed tools and products or the straight-line
method over two years, whichever method results in a higher level of annual amortization. Amortization expense related to purchased
software amounted to approximately $2.2 million, $1.3 million, and $766,000 in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. Accumulated
amortization related to purchased software totaled approximately $698,000 and $2.1 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.
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Investments

Prior 10 2002, the Company invested $19.7 million in twelve privately held companies, primarily early stage companies with a
limited operating history. The Company's equity interest in these entities ranged from 2.5% to 12.5% and the Company is accounting
for these investments using the cost method of accounting. The Company did not recognize any material revenue from sales to these
companies during 2002 and 2001 and recognized $16.0 million in total revenue from these companies during the year ended
December 31, 2000,

During 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded impairment charges of $15.4 million and $4.1 million, respectively, for other than
temporary losses on these investments. The remaining balance, representing a single investment valued at $200,000 in the
accompanying December 31, 2001 balance sheet, was sold and cash of $200,000 was received during the first quarter of 2002. The
Company continues to retain an ownership interest in several of these companies although they are carried at a zero cost basis in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2002.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually. SFAS 142 also
requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives be amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated
residual values and reviewéd for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets.”

The Company adopted SFAS 142 effective January 1, 2002. Upon adoption, the Company tested goodwill for impairment at
January 1, 2002 according to the provisions of SFAS 142, which resulted in no impairment required as a cumulative effect of
accounting change. As a result a change in the Company's strategic direction during the second quarter of 2002, the Company tested
goodwill and intangible assets with definite lives for impairment according to the provisions of SFAS 142 and SFAS 144, respectively
which resulted in an impairment of $6.8 million of goodwill and $3.5 million of intangible assets with definite lives. No balances for
goodwill or intangible assets remained as of December 31, 2002.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 142, the Company recorded $7.6 million and $4.7 million of amortization expense related to
goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. As a result of adopting SFAS 142, the Company did not

recognize any goodwill amortization during the year ended December 31, 2002.

The following table reconciles previously reported net income as if the provisions of SFAS 142 were in effect in 2001 and 2000:

2002 2001 2000
Reported net LoSS. .....ovviivveie i $(37,813) $(119,854) $(70,647)
Add back goodwill amortization .........ccocevceeeveieerie e -- 7.600 4,700
Adjusted NEt 1OSS. ...cvvvivieereece e $(37.813) $(112,254) $(65.947)

As part of the acquisition of the SAI/Redeo companies, two former executives of the SAI/Redeo companies signed employment
agreements. As a result of the voluntary terminations of the agreements, the executives were required to return to the Company for
cancellation a total of 82,500 shares of common stock issued in connection with the agreements. During 2001, the Company recorded
the fair value of these shares as of the acquisition date, approximately $2.2 million, as a reduction to the intangible assets associated
with the SAI/Redeo acquisition. Also during 2001, based on a revision to the Company's future cash flow estimates, the Company
recognized an impairment charge of $36.8 million related to goodwill associated with the acquisition of the SAI/Redeo companies.

Prior to their impairment, intangible assets were being amortized on a straight-line basis over periods ranging from three to ten

years. Amortization expense related to these intangible assets amounted to $455,000, $8.5 million, and $5.4 million in 2002, 2001, and
2000, respectively.
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Intangible assets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 are summarized as follows (in thousands):

Useful
Life
2002 2001 (in_years)

Goodwill

GOOAWII-ELEKOM ... ittt et ee sttt s e $ - $6,987 10
GOOAWITI-SAT/ROTEO. . .cvvoviii ittt ettt sae s ettt eas s eaes -- 10,798 8
GOOAWIITHISOIA.COM ...ttt et eb s ettt s et et s bt e s en s ne - 1.948 4
Total BOOAWIIL ... e e - 19,733

Less accumulated amortization of goodWill........cccoviiiiiiiiiie e - (12,932)

GOOAWILL, FIEE .ottt e e ettt sr e s b e e e e st e et e eee e aeteesbesta e s ensaene e S - 6,801

Intangible Assets

Acquired technologies ~ SAI/ROGEO . .....cc..ociiiriiiiet ettt - 4,100 8
Acquired technologies - 1S0IA.COM ...ttt -- 506 3
Assembled WOTKIOICE. . c...viviic it - 450 7
CUSEOIMIET DASE.......vevii et bt b bbb ettt eb s - 100 4
ONT ottt e ettt - 534 3
Total INtANGIDIE ASSETS....oiiiiiier ettt b ettt e e - 5,690

Less accumulated amortization of intangible aSSets. ... oo - (1.676)

Intangible ASSETS, MEt ... e s - $4.014

Long-Lived Assets

On January 1, 2002 the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets”. SFAS No. 144 provides a single accounting model for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS No. 144
also changes the criteria for classifying an asset as held for sale; and broadens the scope of businesses to be disposed of that qualify for
reporting as discontinued operations and changes the timing of recognizing losses on such operations. The adoption of SFAS No. 144
did not have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to
amortization, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset
to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the
fair value of the asset. Assets to be disposed of are separately presented in the balance sheet and reported at the lower of the carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated. The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held
for sale are presented separately in the appropriate asset and liability sections of the balance sheet.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 144, the Company accounted for long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 121,
“Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of”.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include the following as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 (in thousands):

: 2002 2001

ACCOUNTS PAYADIE. ...ooviiiii ettt e $412 $532
Accrued compensation, benefits, and commissions.................c.oooienne 31 1,314
Restructuring aCCrials........ccooeiiiiiiieie e 1,064 1,889
ORET et 429 2,635
1,936 $6,370

Product Returns and Warranties

The Company provided warranties for its products after the software is purchased for an agreed-upon period. The Company
generally supports only current releases and the immediately prior releases of its products. The Company's license agreements did not
permit product returns by its customers. The Company has not experienced significant warranty claims to date. Accordingly, the
Company has not provided a reserve for warranty costs at December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company uses financial instruments in the normal course of its business. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents,
marketable securities, accounts receivable, accounts payable and long-term debt approximate fair value. The fair value of the
Company's investments in |privately held companies is not readily available. The Company believes the fair values of these
investments approximated their respective carrying values at December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Revenue

The Company historically recognized revenue from two primary sources, software licenses and services. Revenue from software
licensing and services fees is recognized in accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition”,
and SOP 98-9, “Software Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Transactions” and related interpretations. The Company
recognizes software license revenue when: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred; (3) the fee is
fixed or determinable; and (4) collectibility is probable.

SOP No. 97-2 generally requires revenue earned on software arrangements involving multiple elements to be allocated to each
element based on the relative fair values of the elements. The fair value of an element must be based on evidence that is specific to the
vendor. License fee revenue allocated to software products generally is recognized upon delivery of the products or deferred and
recognized in future periods to the extent that an arrangement includes one or more elements to be delivered at a future date and for
which fair values have not been established. Revenue allocated to maintenance is recognized ratably over the maintenance term, which
is typically 12 months and revenue allocated to training and other service elements is recognized as the services are performed.

Under SOP No. 98-9, if evidence of fair value does not exist for all elements of a license agreement and post-contract customer
support is the only undeliveéred element, then all revenue for the license arrangement is recognized ratably over the term of the
agreement as license revenue, If evidence of fair value of all undelivered elements exists but evidence does not exist for one or more
delivered elements, then revenue is recognized using the residual method. Under the residual method, the fair value of the undelivered
elements is deferred and the remaining portion of the arrangement fee is recognized as revenue. The Company uses the residual
method since it does not have fair value of license fees. Revenue from hosted software agreements are recognized ratably over the
term of the hosting arrangements. Revenue from sales to resellers is recognized on a sell-through basis.

Amounts that have been received in cash or billed but that do not yet qualify for revenue recognition are reflected as deferred
revenues. Deferred revenues at December 31, 2002 and 2001, were as follows (in thousands):

2002 2001
Deferred revenues:

Deferred LICEnse f86S. ..oovviiiiiiiiiiiirieeieree et ra e ene st $1,106 $4,903
Deferred services and training fees. ........ccccoeveverrerireierinreieencceieeceene - 281
Deferred maintenance fees 142 1,507
Total deferred reVENUES. .........oiiiieeie et eaee s 1,248 6,691
Less current portion 1,248 4,850
Noncurrent deferred TEVENUES.........oveevvie e , $ - 1,841

Deferred license fees include amounts collected under subscription, reseller arrangements, milestone based and other ratable
contracts for which revenue has not been recognized. Deferred services, training fees and maintenance fees consist of prepaid fees for
the performance of these services in the future.

In November 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued EITF 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of
Reimbursements Received for 'Out-of-Pocket' Expenses Incurred”, stating that reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses
should be characterized as revenue. The Company adopted this consensus effective January 1, 2002. Historically the Company has not
reflected such reimbursements as revenue in its consolidated statements of operations. Upon adoption of this consensus, comparative
financial statements for prior periods were reclassified to provide consistent presentation. The adoption of this consensus did not have
any impact on the Company's financial position or results of operations, however, the Company's services fees revenue and cost of
services fees revenue increased by an equal amount as a result of the gross-up of revenues and expenses for reimbursable expenses.
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 the Company recorded services fees revenue and cost of services fees revenue from out-
of-pocket expenses of approximately $206,000. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company's services fees
revenue and cost of services fees revenue increased by approximately $668,000 and $966,000 respectively, as a result of the
reclassification of these reimbursements.
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Nonmonetary Transactions

The Company accounts for nonmonetary transactions based on the fair value of the elements to the arrangement. Prior to 2001,
the Company made equity investments of $17.7 million in eleven privately held companies. The Company's equity interest in these
entities ranged from 2.5% to 12.5% and the Company is accounting for these investments using the cost method of accounting. During
2000 the Company recognized $16.0 million in total revenue from software sales to these privately held companies.

Accordingly, the Company recorded the fair value of the license revenue based on evidence of past sales that are specific to the
Company and recorded the fair value of the investment in customers based on similar prices paid in cash by outside financial investors
or valuations performed by third parties.

As discussed in note 11, during 2000 and 1999, the Company issued shares of common stock and warrants to purchase the
Company's common stock in exchange for sales and marketing and software development services. The Company recorded the
noncash sales and marketing and research and development costs based upon the terms of the agreements using the fair value of the
common stock or warrants issued.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses are charged to expense as incurred. Computer software development costs are charged to
research and development expense until technological feasibility is established, after which remaining software production costs are
capitalized in accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise
Marketed”. The Company has defined technological feasibility as the point in time at which the Company has a working model of the
related product. Historically, the development costs incurred during the period between the achievement of technological feasibility
and the point at which the product is available for general release to customers have not been material. Therefore, the Company has
charged all software development costs to research and development expense for the three years ended December 31, 2002.

Advertising Expenses

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and totaled $5,000, $319,000, and $4.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Plan

The Company accounts for its stock option plans in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board (“APB”)
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and related interpretations. As such, compensation expense is measured
on the date of grant only if the current market price of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price. Such compensation expense is
recorded on a straight-line basis over the related vesting period.

SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, permits entities to recognize as expense over the vesting period the fair
value of all stock-based awards on the date of grant. Alternatively, SFAS 123 allows entities to continue to apply the provisions of
APB Opinion No. 25 and provide pro forma net income (loss} and pro forma net income (loss) per share disclosures for employee
stock option grants as if the fair-value-based method defined in SFAS 123 had been applied. The Company has elected to continue to
apply the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 and provide the pro forma disclosures required by SFAS 123,

Had compensation cost been determined consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the Company's pro forma net loss and
net loss per share in accordance with SFAS No. 123 for each of the years in the three-year perlod ended December 31, 2002, would
~ have been as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2002 00] 2000
NEt 0SS, 88 FEPOTEA. .....ovoviiieieie et et ettt es st en e st ab et et eb e e $(37,813) $(119,854) $(70,647)
Add stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported
NEE 1088, TIET Of TAX...vouvveiiieiee ettt bbbttt tes et es et e e et et ettt et eseeseaee st ersebebe e 500 252 1,098
Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expense determined :
under fair-value based method for all awards, net of tax.........c.ccocoiiieieo e, (1.913) 4211 {8.673)
Pro forma NETI0SS ..o et e $(39,226) $(123.813) $(78.222)
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Basic and diluted net loss per share:

As reported $(2.42) $(7.72) $(4.90)
Add stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported

NEE LOSS, TIET OF TAX 1. irivrirririeire et ire e et ettt r et eere e st b n et s et em s emeameentensansenseneaneaneaneas $ 0.03 $0.02 $0.08
Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expense determined .

under fair-value based method for all awards, netoftax............... e, 0.12 027 $(0.60)

Pro forma basic and diluted net 108s per Share ..o 3251 $(7.97) $(5.42)

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax zates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected
to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in
the period that includes the enactment date.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share was computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share,” using the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding. The diluted net loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
does not include the effect of potentially dilutive common stock equivalents, calculated using the treasury stock method, as their
impact would be antidilutive. The potentially dilutive effects of excluded common stock equivalents are as follows (in thousands):

2002 2001 2000

Effect of shares issuable under stock options...............cooiiiiiiiiii e 107 194 1,116
Effect of shares issuable pursuant toiwarrants to

purchase common stock......... e e e e e e - - 167

Total effect of potentially dilutive common stock equivalents...............c...occeiiivininnn 107 194 1,283

Comprehensive income (Loss)

The Company utilizes SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”. SFAS No. 130 establishes standards for reporting and
presentation of comprehensive income (loss) and its components in a full set of financial statements. Comprehensive income (loss)
primarily consists of net income (loss), foreign currency translation adjustments, and unrealized gains and losses from available-for-
sale marketable securities and is presented in the consolidated statements of stockholders' equity as comprehensive income (loss).

Segment and Geographic Information
In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”, the
Company has determined that during 2002, 2001 and 2000 the Company operated in one principal business segment, e-commerce

software solutions, across domestic and international markets.

Geographic revenue and the carrying value of property and equipment as of and for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 were as follows:

(in thousands) 2002 2001 2000
Revenue: ‘ .
UNIEd SEATES ..o.eiiiieeiiees ettt e $4,954 $11,980 828,495
England 2,702 571 -
TEALY .ottt 319 2,503 -
Other international : 1.059 2,619 6,518
TOMAL Lot et et e mn e et aen b arne e $9,034 17,673 $£35,013
Property and equipment: ]
URIEEd STALES .....oioiiiee ettt et eb b saeb e aen e $809 $6,661 $7,098
INEEIMAONAL ...oiiiiiiii ettt - 537 23
TOLAL ..o ettt b i $809 $7.198 $7,334
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB
No. 51.” This interpretation addresses the consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities as defined in the
interpretation. The Interpretation applies immediately to variable interests in variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003,
and to variable interests in variable interest entities obtained after January 31, 2003. The application of this Interpretation is not
expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, Transition and Disclosure, an
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123”. SFAS 148 amends SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, to provide
alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. In addition, this Statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in both
annual and interim financial statements. Certain of the disclosure modifications are required for fiscal years ending after December 15,
2002 and are included in the notes to these consolidated financial statements. ‘

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness to Others, an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57 and 107 and a
rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34”. This Interpretation elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim
and annual financial statements about its obligations under guarantees issued. Interpretation No. 45 also clarifies that a guarantor is
required to recognize, at inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken. The initial recognition and
measurement provisions of the Interpretation are applicable to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002 and are not
expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial statements. The disclosure requirements are effective for financial
statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. The Company does not currently have any guarantees
requiring disclosure in the notes to these consolidated financial statements.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”. SFAS 146
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity
(including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)”. The provisions of SFAS 146 are effective for exit or disposal activities that are
initiated after December 31, 2002, with early application encouraged. The Company does not believe that SFAS 146 will have a
material impact on its financial statements.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement
No. 13, and Technical Corrections”. SFAS 145 rescinds SFAS 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt”, SFAS
44, “Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers” and SFAS 64, “Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking Fund
Requirements”. SFAS 145 amends SFAS 13, “Accounting for Leases”, eliminating an inconsistency between the required accounting
for sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain lease modifications with similar economic effects as sale-
leaseback transactions. This statement also amends other existing authoritative pronouncements to make various technical corrections,
clarify meanings, or describe their applicability under certain conditions. The provisions related to SFAS 13 are effective for
transactions occurring after May 15, 2002. All other provisions of the statement are effective for financial statements issued on or after
May 15, 2002. The adoption of SFAS 145 did not have a material impact on the Company's financial statements.

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS 143 “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”. SFAS 143 addresses financial
accounting and reporting obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement
costs. The provisions of SFAS 143 are effective for.the Company's 2003 fiscal year. The Company does not believe that SFAS 143
will have a material impact on its financial statements.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.

2. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

As of December 31, 2002, and 2001, those investments with an original maturity of three months or less are classified as cash
equivalents and those investments with original maturities beyond three months are classified as marketable securities. Pursuant to the
provisions of SFAS No. 115, the Company has classified all of its marketable securities as available-for-sale.
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The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses and fair value of these available-for-sale
marketable securities by major security type and class of security at December 31, 2002 were as follows (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Holding Gains Holding Losses Value
COMMETCIAl PAPET ... oveevieceie e ettt et et ces s cononienienicnienins $16,595 $-- $-- $16,595
Corporate notes and bonds.. 15,115 2 2) 15,135
Government notes and bonds... 19,106 48 -- 19,154
Certificates of depOSit. .....ccvcrrereerevrinierinieernienes 2,001 - - ' 2,001
TOtAl oot s s $32.817 870 3 $52,885

The maturities of all securities are less than one year from December 31, 2002.

The Company had $15,000 of realized gains and no realized losses from sales of marketable securities included in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002. The Company received approximately
$15.0 million in proceeds from these sales.

The amortized cost, grass unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses and fair value of these available-for- sale
marketable securities by major security type and class of security at December 31, 2001 were as follows (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Holding Gains Holding Losses Value

Commercial paper.........cccooevcrnann. oo $ 9,915 $ 21 $ - $9,936
Corporate notes and bonds....... 26,401 105 (13) 26,493
Government notes and bonds. .. 24,758 72 (6) 24,824
EQuity SECUTIHIES. ..cvovoiiiicircrcirccie st 3.999 12 -- 4011
TOAL ettt ettt et e e e $65,073 $210 $(19) $65,264

The maturities of all securities except for equity securities are less than one year from December 31, 2001.

The Company had no realized gains and had approximately $11,000 in realized losses from sales of marketable securities
included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2001. The Company received
approximately $2.9 million in proceeds from these sales.

The Company had no realized gains and had approximately $100,000 in realized losses from sales of marketable securities
included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2000. The Company received
approximately $2.9 million in proceeds from these sales.

3. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

Sale of Operating Assets

On December 6, 2002, the Company sold its e-commerce software business to Epicor Software Corporation for $1.0 million.
Approximately $200,000 of the purchase price was placed in escrow and is included in prepaids and other current assets in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002. The Company recorded a gain in 2002 on the sale of the business of
approximately $514,000. License revenue from e-commerce software business for the year ended December 31, 2002 was
approximately $2.8 million. Services revenue from e-commerce software business for the year ended December 31, 2002 was
approximately $5.4 million.

On January 1, 2003, the ICompany sold its Cashbook product to an employee group in Limerick, Ireland. Assets held for sale and
liabilities to be assumed related to the sale of the Cashbook product as of December 31, 2002 and 2002 were as follows (in thousands):
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December 31, December 31,

Assets held for sale 2002 2001
Accounts receivable, N . ..., $41 $237
Prepaids and other current assets............cocovvviiiiiiiii 7 5
Property and equipment, Net..............oioiiiiieii _ - 154
Total assets hield forsale..................cociiiiiii i, $ 48 $396
Liabilities to be assumed

Deferred revenue. ... .....ooover i $220 $620
Total liabilities to be assumed..............coeevvninnn. e, 220 $620

' The Company recognized a gain of approximately $108,000 related to the sale of Cashbook during the first quarter of 2003.
Sale of Financial and Human Resources Software Business

On October 18, 1999, the Company sold its financial and human resources software business to Geac Computer Systems, Inc. and
Geac Canada Limited for a total of approximately $13.9 million. Approximately $2.9 million of the purchase price was placed in
escrow and subsequently settled during 2000. The Company recorded a gain in 1999 on the sale of the business of approximately $9.4
million and an additional gain of $1.3 million in 2000 upon settlement of the escrow and release of indemnifications.

Acquisition of iSold.com

On April 28, 2000, the Company acquired all of the capital stock of iSold.com, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“iSold”). iSold has
developed a software program that provides auctioning capabilities to its clients. The purchase consideration was approximately $2.5
million in cash of which $1.6 million was paid at the date of acquisition and $900,000 was accrued at the date of acquisition and paid
in April 2001. The acquisition was treated as a purchase for accounting purposes with approximately $500,000 of the purchase
consideration allocated to developed technologies and approximately $2.0 million to goodwill. The developed technologies were
being amortized over 3 years and the goodwill was being amortized over 4 years. As a result of impairment charges recorded during
2002, no balance for goodwill or developed technologies remained as of December 31, 2002,

Acquisition of the SAI/Redeo Companies

On May 31, 2000, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of SAI (Ireland) Limited, SAI Recruitment Limited,
i2Mobile.com Limited and SAl America Limited (the “SAI/Redeo Companies™). The SAI/Redeo Companies specialize in electronic
payment settlement. The purchase consideration was approximately $63.2 million, consisting of approximately $30.0 million in cash
(exclusive of $350,000 of cash acquired), 1,148,000 shares of the Company's common stock with a fair value of $30.4 million,
assumed options to acquire 163,200 shares of the Company's common stock with an exercise price of $23.50 (estimated fair value of
$1.8 million using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: no expected dividend yield, volatility of
70%, risk-free interest rate of 6.5%, and an expected life of 2 years) and acquisition costs of approximately $995,000. The acquisition
was treated as a purchase for accounting purposes, and accordingly, the assets and liabilities were recorded based on their fair vaiue at
the date of acquisition, with approximately $49.8 million of the purchase consideration allocated to goodwill and approximately $4.7
million allocated to developed technologies and other intangible assets. The Company evaluated the developed technologies and in-
process research and development to determine their stage of development, their expected income generating ability, as well as risk
factors associated with achieving technological feasibility. The Company expensed approximately $8.3 million as in-process research
and development in the second quarter of 2000. As a result of impairment charges recorded during 2002 and 2001, no balance for
goodwill or developed technologies and other intangible assets remained as of December 31, 2002.

4. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In 2003, we entered into an oral agreement with Kanders & Company pursuant to which we sublease approximately 1,989 square
feet in Greenwich, Connecticut for $9,572 a month (subject to increases every three years). The agreement provides for a one-year
term and Clarus has the option to renew for up to nine additional one-year terms. Under the terms of the agreement, we are required to
pay approximately $325,000 in build-out construction costs, fixtures, equipment and furnishings related to preparation of the space. In
the event Clarus was to undergo a change in control, our remaining rent through the tenth anniversary of the commencement of the
agreement would immediately accelerate and the present value of such rent would be placed in escrow for the benefit of Kanders &
Company. In January 2003, the Company obtained a standby letter of credit in the amount of $118,345 to secure lease obligations for
the Greenwich, Connecticut facility that is being constructed. Kanders & Company reimburses Clarus a pro rata portion of the $3,000
annual cost of the letter of credit. Kanders & Company is owned and controlled by the Company's Executive Chairman, Warren B.
Kanders.
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After the closing of the sale of the e-commerce software business, Steven Jeffery, resigned as the Company's Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors. Under Mr. Jeffery's employment agreement, he is entitled to receive a severance
payment equal to one year's salary of $250,000, payable over one year. In addition, Mr. Jeffery continued to be a member of our Board
of Directors and entered into a three-year consulting agreement with the Company and will receive total consideration of $250,000
payable over the three-year term. The $250,000 was recorded as severance expense during 2002 and is included in accounts payable
and accrued liabilities caption in the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2002,

During December 2002, the Company reimbursed legal fees and other expenses in the amount of $531,343 incurred by Warren B.
Kanders, Burtt R. Ehrlich, and Nicholas Sokolow, all of whom are members of the Company's Board of Directors, in connection with
their successful solicitation of proxies for the May 21, 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Company recorded this amount in
the fourth quarter of 2002 asia general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

On November 1, 2001, the Company engaged E.Com Consulting to perform market research and provide recommendations
concerning the needs and opportunities associated with the Company's settlement product. E.Com Consulting subcontracted with e-
RM International, Inc. (“e-RMI”™) to assist with a portion of this project. e-RMI is a Delaware corporation whose sole shareholder is
Chrismark Enterprises LLC. Chrismark Enterprises LLC is owned by Mark Johnson, a former director of the Company and his wife.
The contract period of the engagement was November 1, 2001 through January 31, 2002 for which the Company agreed to pay total
professional fees of $50,000 plus out-of-pocket expenses. Of this amount, §7,805 was paid to e-RMI. The Company expensed a total
of $42,164 in connection with the engagement during 2001 and had a balance due E.Com of $34,359 at December 31, 2001 that is
included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The contract was terminated by
the Company during January 2002. No expense was incurred during 2002 and all amounts due E.Com were paid in January, 2002. At
the May 21, 2002 Annual M¢eting of Stockholders, Mr. Johnson was not re-elected a director of the Company.

On February 7, 2002 Todd Hewlin joined the Company's Board of Directors. Mr. Hewlin is a managing director of The Chasm
Group, LLC, a consultancy organization focusing on helping technology companies develop and implement strategies that create and
sustain market leadership positions for their core products while building shareholder value and a sustainable competitive advantage.
During 2001, the Company engaged The Chasm Group to assist the Company on various strategic and organizational issues. The
contract period of the engagement was November 15, 2001 through February 15, 2002 for which the company agreed to professional
fees of $225,000 plus out-of*pocket expenses. The Company expensed a total of $145,000 during 2002 that is included in general and
administrative in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and expensed $131,000 during 2001. The Company
expensed an additional $54,000, outside the original engagement, during 2002 related to further services performed by The Chasm
Group that is included in general and administrative in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. At the May 21, 2002
Annual Meeting of Stockholders, Mr. Hewlin was not elected a director of the Company.

In the opinion of management, the rates, terms and considerations of the transactions with the related parties described above
approximate those that the Company would have received in transactions with unaffiliated parties.

s. RESTRUCTURING AND RELATED COSTS

During 2002 and 2001, the Company's management approved restructuring plans to reorganize and reduce operating costs.
Restructuring and related charges of $4.2 million were expensed in 2001 to better align the Company's cost structure with projected
revenue. The charges were comprised of $3.0 million for employee separation and related costs for 181 employees and $1.2 million
for facility closure and consolidation costs. .

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company determined that amounts previously charged during 2001 of approximately
$202,000 that related to employee separation and related charges were no longer required and this amount was credited to sales and
marketing expense in the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of operations during 2002.

Additional restructuring iand related charges of $8.6 million were expensed during 2002. The charges for 2002 were comprised of
$4.6 million for employee separation and related costs for 183 employees and $4.0 million for facility closures and consolidation
COsts.

The facility closures and consolidation costs for 2001 and 2002 relate to the abandonment of the Company's leased facilities in
Suwanee, Georgia; Limerick, Ireland; Maidenhead, England; and near Toronto, Canada. Total facility closures and consolidation costs
include remaining lease liabilities, construction costs and brokerage fees to sublet the abandoned space offset by estimated sublease
income. The estimated costs of abandoning these leased facilities, including estimated costs to sublease, were based on market
information trend analysis provided by a commercial real estate brokerage firm retained by the Company. The Company incurred a
charge in the fourth quarter 2002 of $2.1 million for facility closures and consolidation costs as a result of the termination of its lease
for its principal facility in Suwanee, Georgia.
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The following is a reconciliation of the components of the accrual for restructuring and related costs, the amounts charged against
the accrual during 2001 and 2002 and the balance of the accrual as of December 31, 2002:

2001 2002
Accruals Expenditures Balance Accruals Expenditures Credits Balance
December December
31.2001 31,2002
(in thousands)
Employee separation costs................... $2,939 $2,259 $680 $4,645 $4,196 $202 $927
Facility closure costs...........cccoeeennnnn 1,218 9 1,209 3.905 4,977 - 137
Total restructuring and related
COSES. e v e $4,157 $2,268 $1,889 $8,550 $9,173 $202 $1.064

For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the restructuring and related costs were classified in the Company's
consolidated statements of operations as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended
’ December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001
Cost of revenues - Services fees. ........ovviiiiiiiiiiiiii e $858 $1,177
Research and development.........c.oooevriiiiiiii e 1,291 217
Sales and marketing..........ooooiiiiiiiii i 1,242 1,218
General and adminiStrative. . ....o.oiovi i 5.159 1,545
Ot e $8.550 4,15
6. INCOME TAXES

For financial reporting purposes, losses from continuing operations before income taxes includes the following components (in
thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Pre-tax loss:
United States...... e $(25,770) $(66,995) $(51,805)
FOTeIgN. .. i (12.043) (52.859) (18.842)
TOtal o $(37,813) 119,854 $(70,647)

The Company files a consolidated income tax return with its wholly-owned subsidiaries. The components of the income tax
expense (benefit) for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002 are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Current:
Federal. . ..o $-- $-- $--
N LT O PR - -- --
FOreign. . ...ovii .- - .-
SUD-tOtAl. . o $-- $-- $--
Deferred:
Federal.......oooiiiiii i 579 (19,950) (16,216)
) ¥ OO UU 164 (4,809) (2,700)
FOTBIgN. ot (2.026) (2.513) (1.863)
SUB-OtAL. .. (1,283) (27,272) (20,779)
Increase in valuation alowance for deferred income taxes........... 1,283 27272 20,779
Total. $__ - $ = $ -



The following is a summary of the items that caused recorded income taxes to differ from income taxes computed using the
statutory federal income taxirate of 34% for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002:

Year Ended
December 31,
2002 2001 2000
Computed “expected” income tax expense (benefit)..............cocooviiiiiiin (34.0)% (34.0)% (34.0)%
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal income taxes..................oceovivenen. 0.3 (2.6) 3.7
Other, NEL. .. 1.3 0.1 0.7
Nondeductible goodwill....... ..o s 9.6 12.8 2.5
Nondeductible acquired research & development........................... 0.0 0.0 4.0
Income tax effect attributable to foreign operations......................... 2.6 0.9 1.1
Nondeductible expired/cancelled warrants and options..................... 16.8 0.0 0.0
Increase in valuation allowance...............coovveiiiii i 34 22.8 294
Income tax expense (benefit)..........ooviiiiiiiiiiii i $ - s - $ -

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial reporting carrying amounts
and tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Significant components of the
Company's deferred existing income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 are as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,
2002 2001
Deferred income tax assets:
Net operating loss, capital loss and research &
experimentation credit carryforwards...............coooeeinn $57,616 $43,985
Allowance for doubtful accounts................ccooveiiiiinienn, 55 131
Depreciation anid amortization.......................oovevviierreennn 615 856
Noncash compensation..........co.oiiveiiinietiiiiiiiieiienineenns 321 7,444
Accrued Habilities. ... ...oivivirir e 339 392
Reserves for Investments. ... .....o.ovviivie e iene 2,352 7.207
Net deferred income tax assets before valuation allowance............... 61,298 60,015
Valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets.......................s (61,298) (60.015)
Net deferred INCOME taX @SSELS.. .. vuvrieiiieeireit e cireiieiaenens $ - b --

The net increase in the valuation allowance for deferred income tax assets for 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $1.3 million, $27.3
million, and $20.8 million, respectively. In assessing the realizability of deferred income tax assets, management considers whether it
is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred income tax liabilities, projected future
taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Management has provided a valuation allowance against
deferred income tax assets at December 31, 2002 because the ultimate realization of those benefits and assets does not meet the more
likely than not criteria.

At December 31, 2002, the Company has net operating loss, capital loss, research and experimentation credit and alternative
minimum tax credit carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes of approximately $114.1 million, $13.6 million, $1.3 million
and $53,000, respectively, which expire in varying amounts beginning in the year 2009. The Company also has incurred foreign losses
in the amount of approximately U.S.$23.2 million that are available to offset future taxable income in foreign jurisdictions.
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The Company's ability to benefit from certain net operating loss and other carryforwards is limited under section 382 of the
Internal Revenue Code as the Company is deemed to have had an ownership change of greater than 50%. Accordingly, certain U.S.
net operating losses may not be realizable in future years due to this limitation.

7. DEBT

The Company's debt consists of the following as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 (in thousands):

2002 2001

Convertible subordinated promissory note with a commercial bank,
due March 15, 2005, interest payable quarterly 8t 4.5%.....c..oceevivicineriie e $5.000 $5.000
Less current portion of 1ong-term debt..........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiii et e 5,000 --
$ - $5,000

The Company has a $5.0 million convertible subordinated promissory note (the “Note™) with a commercial bank which is due
March 15, 2005. The note provides for the ability of the holder to convert, at its option, all or any portion of the principal of the Note
into common stock of the Company at the price of $147.20 per share. If the quoted price per share of the Company's common stock
exceeds 200% of the conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days in any period of 30 consecutive trading days, the
Company has the right to require that the holder of the Note convert all of the principal of the Note into common stock of the
Company at the price of $147.20 per share.

Upon the occurrence of a change of control, as defined in the Note, the Company would be required to prepay the entire
outstanding principal amount of the Note, together with all accrued interest within five business days. On December 18, 2002,
Peachtree Equity Partners, as the assignee of the Note, brought an action in the Georgia state court for prepayment of the Note, plus
interest and attorneys fees. The action asserts that certain Change of Control provisions, as defined in the Note, have been triggered,
thus permitting the holder to demand immediate prepayment in full. The Company has denied the material allegations of the
Complaint and asserted various affirmative defenses. Although the Company does not believe a change of control has occurred, it has
classified the debt as a current liability in the accompany consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2002 pending outcome of the
lawsuit.

8. ROYALTY AGREEMENTS

The Company was previously a party to royalty and other original equipment manufacturer agreements for certain of its
applications. The Company incurred a total of approximately $24,000, $169,000, and $139,000 in royalty expense for the years ended
December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively, pursuant to these agreements. The royalty fees paid are included in cost of
revenues-license fees in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. All royalty agreements were assumed by Epicor
Corporation in connection with the sale of the Company's e-commerce software business on December 6, 2002.

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors a 401(k) Plan (the “Plan™), a defined contribution plan covering substantially all employees of the
Company. Under the Plan's deferred compensation arrangement, eligible employees who elect to participate in the Plan may
contribute between 2% and 20% of eligible compensation, as defined, to the Plan. The Company, at its discretion, may elect to provide
for either a matching contribution or discretionary profit-sharing contribution or both. The Company made matching contributions of
approximately $55,000, $147,000, and $93,000 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

On June 13, 2000, the Company adopted the Clarus Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “U.S. Plan™) and the Global
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Global Plan”) (collectively, the “Plans™), which offers employees the right to purchase shares of
the Company's common stock at 85% of the market price, as defined. Under the Plans, full-time employees, except persons owning
3% or more of the Company's common stock, are eligible to participate after 90 days of employment. Employees may contribute up to
15% of their annual salary toward the Purchase Plan. A maximum of 1,000,000 shares of common stock may be purchased under the
Plans. Common stock is purchased directly from the Company on behalf of the participants. During the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000, 18,548, 55,420, and 3,883 shares were purchased for the benefit of the participants under the Plans,
respectively. As of December 31, 2002, there were 3 participants in the U.S. Plan and no participants in the Global Plan.
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10. STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company applies the principles of APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” in accounting for its
stock option plans. Accordingly, the Company recognizes deferred compensation when the exercise price of the options granted is less
than the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant. The deferred compensation is presented as a component of shareholders'
equity in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and is amortized over the periods expected to be benefited, generally the
vesting period of the options.

The Company has a stock option plan for employees, consultants, and other individual contributors to the Company, which
enables the Company to grant up to approximately 1.6 million qualified and nonqualified incentive stock options (the “1992 Plan”).
The qualified options are to be granted at an exercise price not less than the fair market value at the date of grant. The nonqualified
options are to be granted at an exercise price of not less than 85% of the fair market value at the date of grant. The compensation
commiittee determines the period within which options may be exercised, which cannot exceed ten years from the date of grant. The
compensation committee also determines the period over which the options vest. Options are generally exercisable for seven years
from the grant date and generally vest over a four-year period from the date of grant. The 1992 Plan also provides for stock purchase
authorizations and stock bonus awards. As of December 31, 2002, no such awards have been granted under the 1992 Plan.

The Company adopted the 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the “1998 Plan”) in 1998. Under the 1998 Plan, the Board of Directors has
the flexibility to determine’ the type and amount of awards to be granted to eligible participants, who must be employees of the
Company or its subsidiaries!or consultants to the Company. The 1998 Plan provides for grants of incentive stock options, nonqualified
stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights, and restricted units. During 2000, the Board of Directors and
stockholders adopted an amendment, which increased the number of shares authorized and reserved for issuance from 1.5 million
shares to 3.0 million shares. The aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be granted through awards under the 1998
Plan to any employee in any calendar year may not exceed 200,000 shares. The 1998 Plan will continue in effect until February 2008
unless terminated sooner.

Upon the acquisition of the SAI/Redeo Companies on May 31, 2000, the Company assumed the Stock Incentive Plan of Software
Architects International, Limited (the “SAI Plan™), and the options outstanding. The SAI Plan enables the Company to grant up to
750,000 nonqualified stock options. The Company may grant options to eligible participants who must be employees of the Company
or its subsidiaries or consultants, but not directors or officers of the Company.

On April 9, 2001, the Company announced a voluntary stock option exchange program for its employees. Under the program,
employees were given the opportunity to cancel outstanding stock options previously granted to them on or after November 1, 1999 in
exchange for an equal number of new options to be granted at a future date. The exercise price of the new options was equal to the fair
market value of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. During the first phase of the program, 366,174 options with a
weighted average exercise price of $30.55 per share were canceled and new options to purchase 263,920 shares with an exercise price
of $3.49 per share were issued on November 9, 2001. During the second phase of the program, 273,188 options with a weighted
average exercise price of $43.87 per share were canceled and new options to purchase 198,052 shares with an exercise price of $4.10
per share were issued on February 11, 2002. Employees who participated in the first exchange were not eligible for the second
exchange. The exchange program was designed to comply with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No.
44 “Accounting for Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation” and did not result in any additional compensation charges or
variable accounting. Members of the Company's Board of Directors and its executive officers were not eligible to participate in the
exchange program.

On December 6, and December 20, 2002, the Company granted options to purchase a total of 1,250,000 shares of common stock
to three senior executives. 450,000 of these options were issued with an exercise price of $5.35 per share, 400,000 were issued with an
exercise price of $7.50 per share and 400,000 were issued with an exercise price of $10.00 per share. A portion of the options issued at
$5.35 per share were issued at less than the fair market value on the date of grant and the Company recorded deferred compensation of
$65,000 to be recognized over the vesting period of five years.

In 2000, the Company granted 18,750 options from the 1998 Plan to a new member of the Company's Board of Directors at a
price below the fair market value at the date of grant. Deferred compensation of approximately $266,000 was recorded related to this
grant and compensation expense of approximately $150,000 and $116,000 was recognized during 2001 and 2000, respectively.

During 2000, the Board of Directors approved and the Company issued 176,687 nonqualified stock options that were independent
of the 1992 Plan and the 1998 Plan to certain employees of the Company. These options were issued at fair market value and vested
over a four-year period in accordance with the Company's standard vesting schedule. During 2001, 160,020 of these options were
canceled. The remaining 16,667 options were canceled during 2002.

During 2000, the Board of Directors approved and the Company issued 160,000 nonqualified stock options to a senior executive
at an exercise price below the fair market value at the date of grant. These options were independent of the 1992 Plan and the 1998
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Plan. Fifteen percent of these options vested immediately and the remainder vested over a four-year period in accordance with the
Company's standard vesting schedule. The Company immediately expensed $814,500 associated with the intrinsic value of the vested
options and recorded the intrinsic value of the unvested options, $4.6 million, as deferred compensation. This arrangement was
terminated in the fourth quarter-of 2000 and all options except those already vested were forfeited. As a result of the options forfeited,
the Company reversed approximately $1.1 million of compensation expense in the fourth quarter of 2000 that had previously been
recognized during 2000. The vested options expired during 2002.

During 1998, the Company granted options with exercise prices below the fair market value at the date of grant. Accordingly, the
Company recorded deferred compensation of approximately $1.1 million. The Company amortized deferred compensation of
$102,000 and $168,000 during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The Company made an election to accelerate vesting of substantially all of the Company's outstanding stock options in connection
with the acquisition by Epicor Software Corporation of the e-commerce assets of the Company. This resulted in a non-cash stock
compensation charge of approximately $500,000 during 2002.

The Company recorded total noncash stock corhpensation expense of approximately $500,000, $252,000 and $1,098,000 for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Total options available for grant under all plans as of December 31, 2002 were 976,170.

A summary of changes in outstanding options during the three years ended December 31, 2002 is as follows:

Weighted

Range of Average

Exercise Exercise
Shares Prices Price
December 31, 1999 . ..ottt ettt e 2,145,014 $0.67 - $ 62.00 $12.05
GIAnTEA ..coeeoviee ettt ettt et e eee ettt ts e ere e e s st eneas 2,104,732 $6.13 - $136.00 $31.06
CANCEIEA ottt ettt e eat et att et er et sentaa e bebeaaen (440,631) $0.67 - $128.13 $25.53
EXEICISEA 1ovveieiiiiciiiciieiee ettt ettt ettt b et st te ettt saeete e s e nenare e (541,993) $0.67-% 59.00 $ 5.67
December 31, 2000.......ccocoevenenenn. e 3,267,122 $0.67 - $136.00 $23.51
GIANEA .ottt ettt es ettt e e be et e er e et et e ateene st tear e b aaneen 1,923,240 $343-% 9.25 $ 5.80
CANCEIEA ..ottt et e et et s aa et e e et st nra e reeta e aeas (1,886,791) $1.00 - $136.00 $25.80
EXEICISEA vovvvieiieiveeees sttt v e s st svense st staverenst e e b s rensaesn st benons (62,445) $067-% 575 $ 3.17
December 31, 2001 . ..ot sttt e 3,241,126 $1.00 - $128.13 $12.06
GIANLE ..ottt eb et se e se e e sassases e e e st eb e bensesanssatans 2,238,882 $3.76 - $ 10.00 $ 640
CANCELEA ..ottt et et eaes (2,512,447 $1.00-8$128.13 $12.13
EXETCISEA .ottt eee e ettt ettt enr ettt ene s (112.655) $1.00-% 5.17 $ 3.51
December 31, 2002 ..ot e s es e s sae s e ne b nb e e e s e beane e 2,854,906 $1.00-9 82.56 $ 7.76
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2002..........cciiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 1,158,508 § 856
Vested and exercisable at December 31,2001, 1,122,266 $ 1540
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2000 ......c.cccvceverenievieinncnninensereereoseenes 564,081 $ 16.86

For SFAS No. 123 purposes, the fair value of each option grant has been estimated as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following assumptions:

2002 2001 2000
Dividend yield.......ccccovviinnenineniievnnecene s 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility ....coccovveeinriniinrnieerenes 76% 90% 90%
Risk-free interest rate ........ocecveneicicrnneneieeenns 2.63%-4.43% 3.56%-4.98% . 3.44%-6.60%
Expected [ife ......covoveiiiiiicrei Four years Four years Four years
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Using these assumptions, the fair values of the stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000,
were approximately $6.4 million, $7.4 million, and $49.0 million, respectively, which would be amortized over the vesting period of
the options. The weighted-average grant-date fair values of the stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2002,
2001, and 2000, were $2.86, $3.84, and $23.28, respectively.

The following table summarizes the exercise price range, weighted average exercise price, and remaining contractual lives by
significant ranges for options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 2002:

Outstanding Exercisable
Weighted
Number Weighted Average Number Weighted
Exercise of Shares Average Remaining . of Shares Average
Price Outstanding at Exercise Contractual Exercisable at Exercise
Range December 31, 2002 Price Life (Years) December 31, 2002 Price

$1.00 - $ 517 362,352 . $3.73 ‘ 2.1 337,893 $3.70
$535 - § 8.00 ‘ 1,886,426 $6.08 7.7 623,177 $6.02
$850 - $12.06 509,334 $10.04 8.0 109,334 $10.19
$18.88 - $82.56 96.794 $43.36 2.8 88,104 $39.26
2,854,906 §7.76 6.9 1,158,508 $8.56

11. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common Stock

During 2000, the Company entered into agreements with three strategic partners, who were also customers, to provide various
sales and marketing efforts on behalf of the Company in exchange for 39,118 shares of the Company's common stock. The total value
of these common stock grants was approximately $3.8 million based upon the value of the Company's common stock at the date of
grant. The Company recognized $611,000, $1.6 million and $8.6 million of total revenues from these customers during the years
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

The sales and marketing agreement signed with one strategic partner also required cash payments of $300,000 in each of the last
two years of the related agreement. The Company recorded the fair value of the common stock and the expected cash payments as
deferred sales and marketing costs during 2000. During 2001, the Company terminated the sales and marketing agreement with this
strategic partner resulting in a write-off of the remaining deferred sales and marketing costs of $1.4 million. Also, as a result of the
termination, the Company is no longer required to make cash payments of $300,000 for the last two years of the agreement

The Company recorded noncash sales and marketing expense, including the write-off discussed above, of approximately
$450,000, $2.5 million and $825,000 during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively related to these agreements.

Warrants

During 1999, the Company issued warrants to purchase 225,000 shares of the Company's common stock at exercise prices
ranging from $10.00 to $53.75 per share, which expired in December of 2002. These warrants were issued to certain strategic partners,
who were also customers, in exchange for the agreement to be party to a sales and marketing agreement between the Company and the
strategic partner to provide 'various sales and marketing efforts on behalf of the Company. The total fair market value of the warrants
was approximately $11.9 million, which was recorded as additional paid-in capital and deferred sales and marketing costs at the date
of issuance. The Company rrecorded noncash sales and marketing expense of approximately $4.3 million and $5.7 million related to
these agreements during the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. These warrants were fully amortized as of
December 31, 2001 and expired in December 2002. The Company recognized $1.1 million of total revenues from these customers
during the year ended December 31, 2000. The Company did not recognize any revenue from these customers during 2002 or 2001.

During 1999, the Company issued 5,000 warrants to a customer, with a fair market value of $101,000, as a sales incentive to enter
into a software license agreement. The warrants have an exercise price of $53.21 per share and allow the holder to purchase the
Company's common stock at any time prior to December 31, 2002, This amount was recorded as additional paid-in capital and
deferred license revenue during 1999. In June 2000, the customer earned the 5,000 warrants as a result of entering into a software
license agreement and the $101,000 was recorded as a charge to software license revenue in the 2000 statement of operations.
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The Company previously granted 25,000 warrants to a strategic partner in return for completion of predetermined sales and
marketing milestones. The exercise price of these warrants is $53.75 per share and the warrants expire on October 31, 2003.

During 2000, the Company awarded 33,334 warrants to a third party software developer in exchange for services. The exercise
price of the 33,334 warrants was $56.78 per share and the warrants expire on March 31, 2003. The fair market value of the warrants
on the date of grant was $424,000 and was recorded as additional paid-in capital and noncash research and development expense
during 2000. ‘

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

The Company rents certain office space, copiers, telephone and computer equipment under noncancelable operating leases. Rents
charged to expense were approximately $1.2 million, $2.1 million, and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and
2000, respectively. Future minimum lease payments for the next five years and thereafter under noncancelable operating leases with

remaining terms greater than one year as of December 31, 2002, are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31,

2003 $252
2004 96
2005 96
2006, .. 12
Thereafter. ..o e
Total. oo $456

In addition to the above commitments, we entered into an oral agreement in 2003 with Kanders & Company pursuant to which we
sublease approximately 1,989 square feet in Greenwich, Connecticut for $9,572 a month (subject to increases every three years). The
agreement provides for a one-year term and Clarus has the option to renew for up to nine additional one-year terms. Under the terms
of the agreement, we are required to pay approximately $325,000 in build-out construction costs, fixtures, equipment and furnishings
related to preparation of the space. In the event Clarus was to undergo a change in control, our remaining rent through the tenth
anniversary of the commencement of the agreement would immediately accelerate and the present value of such rent would be placed
in escrow for the benefit of Kanders & Company. In January 2003, the Company obtained a standby letter of credit in the amount of
$118,345 to secure lease obligations for the Greenwich, Connecticut facility that is being constructed. Kanders & Company
reimburses Clarus a pro rata portion of the $3,000 annual cost of the letter of credit.

The Company has sub-leased its facility near Toronto, Canada that will provide sub-lease income of approximately $4,000 per
month through January, 2006 that will offset some of the above obligations.

In December 2002, the Company executed a lease termination agreement pursuant to which it agreed to abandon its principal
facility in Suwanee, Georgia on March 31, 2003. Pursuant to the terms of the termination agreement, the Company paid to the lessor
$2.9 million in cash, which has been included in general and administrative expense in the accompanying statement of operations for
2002. The lease is scheduled to terminate March 31, 2003.

Indemnification

The Company more often than not indemnified its customers against damages and costs resulting from claims of patent,
copyright, or trademark infringement associated with use of the software in its software licensing agreements. The Company has not
made any payments under such indemnifications. However, the Company continues to monitor the conditions that are subject to the
indemnifications to identify whether it is probable that a loss has occurred, and would recognize any such losses under the
indemnifications when those losses are reasonably estimable.

In addition to the above, the Company has agreed to indemnify Epicor Software Corporation, as part of the sale of the Company's e-
commerce business, for the conduct of this business prior to December 6, 2002.
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Litigation

The Company is a party to the following pending judicial and administrative proceedings. After reviewing the proceedings that
are currently pending (including the probable outcome, reasonably anticipated costs and expenses, availability and limits of insurance
coverage, and our established reserves for uninsured liabilities) we do not believe that any liabilities that may result from these
proceedings are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition or results of operations,
however, the results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict. An unfavorable resolution of the following proceedings
could materially adversely affect the Company's business, results of operations, liquidity or financial condition.

Following its public announcement on October 25, 2000, of its financial results for the third quarter of 2000, the Company
and certain of its directors and officers were named as defendants in fourteen putative class action lawsuits filed in the United
States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. The fourteen class action lawsuits were consolidated into one case, Case
No. 1:00-CV-2841, pursuant to an order of the court dated November 17, 2000. A consolidated amended complaint was then filed
on May 14, 2001 on behalf of all purchasers of common stock of the Company during the period beginning December 8, 1999
and ending on October 25, 2000.

Generally the amended complaint alleges claims against the Company and the other defendants for violations of Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. Generally, it is
alleged that the defendants made material misrepresentations and omissions in public filings made with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and in certain press releases and other public statements. The amended complaint alleges that the market
price of the Company's common stock was artificially inflated during the class periods. The plaintiffs seek unspecified
compensatory damages and costs (including attorneys' and expert fees), expenses and other unspecified relief on behalf of the
classes. The Court denied a motion to dismiss brought by the defendants and the case is currently in discovery.

On December 18, 2002, Peachtree Equity Partners, as the assignee of a five-year Promissory Note from the Company in the
amount of $5,000,000 due March 14, 2005, brought an action in the Georgia state court for prepayment of the Note, plus interest
and attorneys fees. The action asserts that certain Change of Control provisions, as defined in the Note, have been triggered, thus
permitting the holder to demand immediate prepayment in full. The Company has denied the material allegations of the
Complaint and asserted various affirmative defenses.

During 2002, ten former employees of the Company commenced an action in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia seeking back pay, employee benefits, interest and attorneys fees. The Company denies the material
allegations set forth by the plaintiffs and asserted various affirmative defenses.

In addition to the above, in the normal course of business, we are subjected to claims and litigations in the areas of product and
general liability. We believe that we have adequate insurance coverage for most claims that are incurred in the normal course of
business. In such cases, the effect on our financial statements is generally limited to the amount of our insurance deductibles. At this

time, we do not believe any such claims will have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows.

ITEM 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
PART HI

Items 10 through 14 in Part Ill of this Form 10-K were filed on April 30, 2003 as part of an amendment to the original Form 10-K
Jiled with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 31, 2003 and are included herein for ease of review.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
DIRECTORS
The Company’s Board of Directors currently consists of the following six members:

Tench Coxe, 45, has served as a member of our Board of Directors since September 1993. Mr. Coxe has been a managing director
of the general partner of Sutter Hill Ventures, a venture capital company located in Palo Alto, California, since 1989. Mr. Coxe also
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serves on the boards of directors of eLoyalty Corporation, Copper Mountain Networks, Inc. and NVIDIA Corporation and on the
boards of directors of several privately-held companies.

Donald L. House, 61, has served as a member of our Board of Directors since January 1993. Mr. House served as Chairman of
our Board of Directors from January 1994 until December 1997 and as our President from January 1993 until December 1993. Mr.
House also serves on the board of directors of Carreker Corporation, where he is chairman of its audit committee. Mr. House is a
private investor and he serves on the board of directors of several privately-held technology companies.

Stephen P. Jeffery, 47, joined us in November 1994 as Vice President of Marketing and was elected Vice President of Sales and
Marketing in June 1995. Until December 2002, he was our President, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer. He was
first elected to serve as a Director in October 1997. Prior to joining us, Mr. Jeffery was employed by Hewlett-Packard Company,
where he served as the manager of Hewlett-Packard's client/server solutions and partner programs, as well as in a variety of sales and
marketing management positions in the United States and Europe for 15 years. Mr. Jeffery also served in sales with International
Business Machines prior to joining Hewlett-Packard.

Warren B. Kanders, 45, has served as a member of our Board of Directors since June 2002 and as Executive Chairman of our
Board of Directors since December 2002. Mr. Kanders has served as the Chairman of the Board of Armor Holdings, Inc. since
January 1996 and Chief Executive Officer since April 2003. From October 1992 to May 1996, he served as Vice Chairman of the
Board of Benson Eyecare Corporation. Mr. Kanders also serves as President of Kanders & Company, Inc., a private investment firm.

Burtt R. Ehrlich, 63, has served as a member of our Board of Directors since June 2002. Mr. Ehrlich has served as a director of
Armor Holdings, Inc. since January 1996. He has also served as Chairman of the board of directors of Langer, Inc. since February
2001, and served as Chairman and Chief Operating Officer of Ehrlich Bober Financial Corp. (the predecessor of Benson Eyecare
Corporation) from December 1986 until October 1992 and as a director of Benson Eyecare Corporation from October 1992 until
November 1995. Mr. Ehrlich is also a director of the Close Brothers Channel Islands group of investment funds. He is a former
Treasurer and Trustee of the Carnegie Council on Ethics and International Affairs, and a former Trustee of the Buckingham Browne
and Nichols School. : ‘

Nicholas Sokolow, 53, has served as a member of our Board of Directors since June 2002. Mr. Sokolow, a practicing attorney,
has served as a director of Armor Holdings, Inc. since January 1996. Since 1994 he has been a partner in the law firm of Sokolow,
Dunaud, Mercadier & Carreras, and from June 1973 until October 1994, Mr. Sokolow was an associate and partner in the law firm of
Coudert Brothers. Mr. Sokolow was a director of Rexel, Inc., formerly known as Willcox & Gibbs, until it was acquired in 1997.

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following table sets forth the name, age and position of each of our executive officers and significant employees as of April
14, 2003. Our executive officers are appointed by and serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors of Clarus.

Name Age Position
Warren B. Kanders 45 Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors
Nigel P. Ekern 38 Chief Administrative Officer and Secretary

See “Directors” above for biographical information with respect to Warren B. Kanders.

Nigel P. Ekern has been Chief Administrative Officer and Secretary of the Company since December 2002. From January 2000
until joining the Company, Mr. Ekern served as a Partner at Dubilier & Company, a New York-based private investment firm. From
June 1998 until January 2000, Mr. Ekern served as an investment advisor at Caravelle Advisors, an investment management affiliate
of CIBC World Markets. From September 1996 until June 1998, Mr. Ekern served as an investment banker at CIBC World Markets.

Following the sale of substantially all of our electronic commerce revenue-generating operations and related assets in December

2002, (i) Stephen P. Jeffery continued serving as a member of our Board of Directors, but stepped down as our Chief Executive
Ofticer and Chairman of our Board of Directors; and (i) James J. McDevitt resigned as Chief Financial Officer of the Company.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, requires our directors and executive officers and any persons who own more than 10% of our
capital stock to file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (and, if such security is listed on a national securities exchange,
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with such exchange), various reports as to ownership of such capital stock. Such persons are required by the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s regulations to furnish us with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely upon reports and representations submitted by the directors, executive officers and holders of more than 10% of our
capital stock, except as indicated below, all Forms 3, 4 and 5 showing ownership of and changes of ownership in our capital stock
during the 2002 fiscal year were timely filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. A Form 4, Statement of Changes in
Beneficial Ownership for each of Messrs. Coxe, House, Jeffery, Ehrlich and Sokolow, was untimely filed during 2002.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings

No director, executive officer, or person nominated to become a director or executive officer has, within the last five years: (i) had
a bankruptcy petition filed by or against, or a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer appointed by a court for, any business of such
person or entity with respect to which such person was a general partner or executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or
within two years prior to that time; (ii) been convicted in a criminal proceeding or is currently subject to a pending criminal
proceeding (excluding traffic violations or similar misdemeanors); (iii) been subject to any order, judgment or decree, not
subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring,
suspending or otherwise limiting his involvement in any type of business, securities or banking activities or practice; (iv) been found
by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the Securities and Exchange Commission or the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission to have violated a federal or state securities or commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended or
vacated.

TTEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Summary Compensation Table
The following summary compensation table sets forth information concerning the annual and long-term compensation earned by

our Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and our Chief Administrative Officer and each of our other executive officers
whose annual salary and bonus during fiscal 2002, 2001 and 2000 exceeded $100,000 (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers”).

Long-Term
Compensation
Securities
‘ Annual Compensation (3) Underlying
Name and Principal Position Fiscal Salary Bonus Options
Year
Warren B. Kanders Executive 2002 -$16,186 - © 1,000,000
Chairman of the Board of 2001 N/A N/A : N/A
Directors (1) . 2000 N/A N/A N/A
Nigel P. Ekern ‘ 2002 $17,949 - 200,000
Chief Administrative Officer 2001 N/A ‘ N/A N/A
(1) } 2000 N/A ' N/A N/A
Stephen P. Jeffery ‘ 2002 $250,000 $112,694 60,000
President, Chairman of the 2001 250,000 - 82,994 150,000
Board and Chief Executive 2000 250,000 146,875 175,000 (4)
Officer (2) ‘
James J. McDevitt ‘ 2002 $187,949 $115,850 50,000
Chief Financial Officer (2) 2001 201,365 36,480 50,000
2000 64,308 10,560 20,000

(1) Served in such position since December 2002.

(2) Served in such position until December 2002,

(3) In accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the compensation set forth in the table does not include
medical insurance, group life insurance or other benefits, securities or property that do not exceed the lesser of $50,000 or 10% of
the person's salary and bonus shown in the table.

(4) Effective February 1, 2002, Mr. Jeffery voluntarily relinquished the option for these shares.
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Options Granted in Fiscal 2002

We granted the following options to our Named Executive Officers during fiscal 2002.

Individual Grants

Name

Warren B. Kanders
Executive
Chairman of the
Board of
Directors

Nigel P. Ekern
Chief
Administrative
Officer

Stephen P. Jeffery
President,
Chairman of the
Board and Chief
Executive Officer

James J. McDevitt
Chief Financial
Officer

Aggregate Option Exercises in Fiscal 2002 and Fiscal Year End Option Values

Potential Realizable

Percent of Value At Assumed
Total Annual Rate of Stock
Number of Options Price Appreciation for
Securities Granted to Exercise Option Term
Underlying Employees or
Option in Fiscal Base Expiration 5% (%) 10% (%)
Grants (¥#) Year Price Date
- 200,000 45.6% $5.35 12/23/12 760,878 1,580,333
400,000 : 7.50 12/23/12 661,755 2,300,666
400,000 10.00 12/23/12 -- 1,300,666
21,250 5.99 5/28/09 67.243 155310
1,489,876 5,335,975
200,000 8.9% $5.35 11/25/12 760,878 1,580,333
60,000 2.7% $5.35 12/5/12 228,263 474,100
50,000 2.2% $5.99 1/8/09 121,927 231,083

The following table contains certain information regarding stock options exercised during fiscal 2002 and options to purchase our
Common Stock held as of December 31, 2002, by each of the Named Executive Officers. The stock options listed below were granted
without tandem stock appreciation rights. We have no freestanding stock appreciation rights outstanding.
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Shares
Value

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised
Options at 12/31/02 (#)

Value of Underlying
In-the-Money Options at
12/31/02 (1)

Acquired
On Exercise
Name #
Warren B. Kanders --
Executive
Chairman of the
Board of Directors

Non-
Exercisable
$54,000

Non-
Exercisable Exercisable
1,000,000 $--

Realized
2)(8) Exercisable
-- 21,250

Nigel P. Ekern -- -- -- 200,000 $-- $£54,000
Chief
Administrative
Officer
Stephen P. Jeffery ‘ -- -- 406,967 108,422 $452,536 $16,200
President,
Chairman of the
Board and Chief
Executive Officer
James J. McDevitt - - 86,148 - $-- $--
Chief Financial

Officer

(1) Calculated on the basis of $5.62 per share, the closing price of the Common Stock as quoted on the Nasdaq National Market, on
December 31, 2002, less the exercise price payable for such shares.

(2) Calculated on the basis of the closing share price of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market on the date of exercise,
less the exercise price payable for such shares.

Employment Agreements
Warren B. Kanders

In December 2002, we entered into an employment agreement with Warren B. Kanders, which provides that he will serve as
Clarus’ Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors and devote as much of his time as is necessary to perform such duties for a
three-year term that will expire on December 6, 2003, subject to early termination in certain circumstances. The agreement provides
for an annual base salary of $250,000. In addition, Mr. Kanders is entitled, at the discretion of our Board of Directors, to performance
bonuses which may be based upon a variety of factors and to participate in our stock incentive plans and other bonus plans adopted by
us. Pursuant to the employment agreement, we maintain term life insurance on Mr. Kanders in the amount of $2,000,000 for the
benefit of his designees. In connection with his employment agreement, Mr. Kanders received ten year options to purchase up to (i)
200,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock, at an exercise price of $5.35 per share; (ii) 400,000 shares of the Company's
Common Stock, at an exercise price of $7.50 per share; and (iii) 400,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock, at an exercise price
of $10.00 per share, all vesting in five equal annual installments commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant. On April 11,
2003, Mr. Kanders received a grant of 500,000 restricted shares of the Company’s Common Stock (the “Restricted Shares™), with full
voting, dividend, distribution and other rights, which vest and become nonforfeitable if Mr. Kanders is an employee and/or a director
of the Company or a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company on the earlier of (i) the date the closing price of the Company’s Common
Stock, as listed or quoted :on any national securities exchange or NASDAQ), shall have equaled or exceeded $15.00 per share for each
of the trading days during a ninety (90) consecutive day period, or (ii) the tenth (10™) anniversary of the date of grant; provided
however that all of the Restricted Shares immediately vest and become nonforfeitable upon a “change in control” or in the event Mr.
Kander’s employment with the Company is terminated without “cause”.

In the event Mr. Kanders is terminated without cause, or by Mr. Kanders upon a “change in control,” Mr. Kanders is entitled to
receive his accrued bonus through the date of termination and to continue to receive his base compensation in accordance with the
normal payroll practices of the Company for twenty-four months after the effective date of such termination. Mr. Kanders will also be
entitied to acceleration of the vesting on the options and restricted stock grants upon the termination of his employment agreement by
us ‘without “cause” or by Mr. Kanders in connection with a “change in control.” Mr. Kanders has also agreed to certain confidentiality
and non-competition provisions.
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Nigel P. Ekern

In December 2002, we entered into an employment agreement with Nigel P. Ekern which is effective as of November 25, 2002,
that provides that he will serve as our Chief Administrative Officer and devote as much of his time as is necessary to perform such
duties for a three-year term that will expire on November 25, 2005, subject to early termination in certain circumstances. The
agreement provides for an annual base salary of $175,000. Under the terms of his employment agreement with us, Mr. Ekern received
ten year options to purchase up to 200,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock, at an exercise price of $5.35 per share and
vesting in five equal annual installments commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant. In addition, Mr. Ekern is entitled,
at the discretion of our Board of Directors, to performance bonuses which may be based upon a variety of factors and to participate in
our stock incentive plans and other bonus plans adopted by us. Pursuant to the employment agreement, we maintain a term life
insurance on Mr. Ekern in the amount of $2,000,000 for the benefit of his designees.

In the event Mr. Ekem is terminated by the Company upon a “change in control”, he is entitled to receive accrued base
compensation through the date of such termination and will also be entitled to acceleration of the vesting on all options to purchase
shares of Common Stock. In the event Mr. Ekern is terminated by the Company without “cause,” he is entitled to receive his base
compensation for (i) six months after such termination, if such termination occurs prior to June 30, 2003; and (ii) twelve months after
such termination, if such termination occurs after June 30, 2003. Mr. Ekern has also agreed to certain confidentiality and non-
competition provisions.

Stephen P. Jeffery

Mr. Jeffery stepped down as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors on December 6, 2002 and we
entered into a three-year consulting agreement with him, to provide us with ongoing consulting services so that we may continue to
benefit from his knowledge and experience. The agreement provides for aggregate consideration of $250,000, payable in twenty-four
equal monthly installments. In the event Mr. Jeffery terminates the consulting agreement, other than upon a “change of control”, he is
required to refund and pay to the Company, a dollar amount equal to such portion of compensation received under the consulting
agreement in excess of the product of $228 multiplied by the number of days elapsed from the effective date of the agreement through
such termination date. ‘

The consulting agreement provides that Mr. Jeffery will be prohibited from transferring any shares of our Common Stock
until after December 31, 2003, and from transferring any shares of our Common Stock that are issuable on the exercise of his options
until after December 31, 2004. The consulting agreement also provides that Mr. Jeffery will be required to own, or hold options to
purchase, a total of at least 200,000 shares of our Common Stock at all times during the term of the agreement. In the event that we
complete a transaction that constitutes a “change of control” and/or we terminate Mr. Jeffery without “cause,” Mr. Jeftery is entitled to
receive the cash compensation payable during the remaining term of the consulting agreement, and all of his unvested options would
immediately vest. Mr. Jeffery has also agreed to certain confidentiality and non-competition provisions.

Compensation of Directors

Following the sale of substantially all of our electronic commerce revenue-generating operations and related assets in December
2002, a new compensation package for the members of our Board of Directors became effective. This package provides for the
payment to each Committee Chairman of $2,000 for each meeting attended in person and $1,000 for each meeting attended
telephonically, and the payment to each other director of $1,000 for each meeting attended in person and $500 for each meeting.
telephonically. The Executive Chairman does not receive any meetings-based compensation. The package also includes a grant to
each of our directors upon appointment of options to purchase 60,000 shares of our Common Stock at fair market value on the date of
grant, vesting in equal annual installments over a three-year period subject to their continued service on our Board of Directors.

Prior to effectiveness of our new compensation package, directors who were not our employees (“Outside Directors™) received a
$2,000 fee for each regular and special meeting of the Board attended by such director. Each Outside Director was paid $20,000 (or
$120,000 for all Outside Directors as a group) in meeting fees in 2002, Outside Directors were not compensated for attendance at
committee meetings or for strictly telephonic Board meetings.

In December 2002, we entered into an employment and stock option agreement with Mr. Kanders, Executive Chairman of the
Board, and a three-year consulting agreement with Mr. Jeffery, an Outside Director, all of which are described in greater detail above,
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REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
‘ AND THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Compensation Policy

The Compensation Committee recommends to the Board an overall philosophy and strategy with respect to the compensation of
Clarus’ Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Administrative Officer and other senior executives to attract and retain
highly qualified individuals, and provides oversight of Clarus’ executive compensation plans. Since the sale of substantially all of our
electronic commerce revenue-generating operations and related assets in December 2002, our Compensation Committee has been
comprised of Messrs. Coxe and Sokolow, with Mr. Coxe serving as the Chairman.

Pursuant to our executive compensation program, the Compensation Committee considers Company performance, individual
performance and an increase in stockholder value over time in determining executive pay levels. Our executive compensation program
consists of three key elements: (i) low annual base salaries; (ii) a performance-based annual bonus; and (iii) periodic grants of stock
options. The Compensation Committee believes that this three-part approach best serves our and our stockholders’ interests by
motivating executive officers to improve our financial position, holding executives accountable for the performance of the businesses
for which they are responsible and by attracting key executives into our service. Under our compensation program, annual
compensation for executive officers is composed of a significant portion of pay that is "at risk" -- specifically, the annual bonus and
stock options. Annual performance bonuses also permit executive officers to be recognized on an annual basis. Such bonuses are
based largely on an evaluation of the contribution made by the executive officer to our overall performance. Stock options, which are
generally awarded under our stock incentive plans, relate a significant portion of long-term remuneration directly to stock price
appreciation realized by all our stockholders.

Compensation of Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors

As Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, Mr. Kanders is ‘compensated pursuant to an employment agreement entered
into in December 2002. During 2002, Mr. Kanders received an aggregate base salary of $16,186. On December 23, 2002, Mr.
Kanders received ten year -options to purchase up to (i) 200,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock, at an exercise price of $5.35
per share; (ii) 400,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock, at an exercise price of $7.50 per share; and (iii) 400,000 shares of the
Company's Common Stock, at an exercise price of $10.00 per share, all vesting in five equal annual installments commencing on the
first anniversary of the date of grant. In addition, Mr. Kanders is entitled, at the discretion of our Board of Directors, to performance
bonuses which may be based upon a variety of factors and to participate in our stock incentive plans and other bonus plans adopted by
us based on his performance and Clarus’ performance.

Compensation of Chief Administrative Officer

As Chief Administrative Officer, Mr. Ekern is compensated pursuant to an employment agreement entered into in December 2002
but effective as of November 25, 2002. During 2002, Mr. Ekern received an aggregate base salary of $17,949. In addition, Mr. Ekern
is entitled, at the discretion of our Board of Directors, to performance bonuses which may be based upon a variety of factors and to
participate in our stock incentive plans and other bonus plans adopted by us based on his performance and Clarus’ performance.
Under the terms of his employment agreement with us, Mr. Ekern received ten year options to purchase up to 200,000 shares of the
Company's Common Stock, at an exercise price of $5.35 per share and vesting in five equal annual installments commencing on the
first anniversary of the date of grant.

Compensation of Former Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Jeffery served as our Chief Executive Officer pursuant to an employment agreement entered into in January 2001 until he
stepped down in December 2002. During 2002, Mr. Jeffery’s received an aggregate base salary of $250,000. In addition, Mr. Jeffery
was entitled, at the discretion of our Board of Directors, to performance bonuses which may be based upon a variety of factors and to
participate in the our stock incentive plans and other bonus plans adopted by us based on his performance and Clarus’ performance.

Submitted by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors:

Tench Coxe (as Chairman)
Nicholas Sokolow

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

Except as set forth below, during 2002, none of the members of our Compensation Committee (i) served as an officer or
employee of Clarus or its subsidiaries, (ii) was formerly an officer of Clarus or its subsidiaries or (iii) entered into any transactions
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with Clarus or its subsidiaries. Except as set forth below, during 2002, none of our executive officers (i) served as a member of the
compensation committee (or other.board committee performing similar functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the board
of directors) of another entity, one of whose executive officers served on our Compensation Committee, (ii) served as director of
another entity, one of whose executive officers served on our Compensation Committee, or (iii) served as member of the
compensation committee (or other board committee performing similar functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the board
of directors) of another entity, one of whose executive officers served as a director of Clarus.

During 2002, Mr. Kanders, a member of our Board of Directors and Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, served as
member of the compensation committee of the board of directors and as an executive officer of Armor Holdings, Inc.

Performance Graph

Set forth below is a line graph comparing the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total stockholder return on our Common
Stock to the cumulative total return of the Russell 2000 Index, the NASDAQ National Market Composite and the Morgan Stanley
Internet Index for the period commencing on December 31, 1998 and ending December 31, 2002 (the “Measuring Period™). The graph
assumes that the value of the investment in our Common Stock and each index was $100 on December 31, 1998. The yearly change in
cumulative total return is measured by dividing (1) the sum’ of (i) the cumulative amount of dividends for the Measuring Period,
assuming dividend reinvestment, and (ii) the change in share price between the beginning and end of the Measuring Period, by (2) the
share price at the beginning of the Measuring Period.

The information appearing below, which relates to prior years includes a comparison to the industry in which our business was
engaged prior to our sale of our electronic commerce software business which was effected as part of our strategy to limit operating
losses and enable the Company to redeploy its assets and use its substantial cash and cash equivalent assets to enhance stockholder
value.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
AMONG CLARUS, THE RUSSELL 2000 INDEX
THE NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET COMPOSITE AND
MORGAN STANLEY INTERNET INDEX
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth as of April 14, 2003 certain information regarding the beneficial ownershlp of the Common Stock
outstanding by (i) each person known to us to own 5% or more of the Common Stock, (ii) each or our directors, (iii) our executive
‘officers, and (iv) our executive officers and directors as a group. Unless otherwise indicated, each of the stockholders shown. in the
table below has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares beneficially owned. Unless otherwise indicated, the
address of each person named in the table below is c/o Clarus Corporation, One Pickwick Plaza, Greenwich, Connecticut 06830.

Common Stock Percentage of
Beneficially Owned Common Stock
Name i @)

Warren B. KANAETS ....oocoi oottt ettt san e s n st esae s e st ess e s sennnenen 2,175,700 (3) 13.3%
Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.
World Financial Center, North Tower
250 Vesey Street
New York, New YOrk 10381 ...t e e eitoneecntn e nseneaes 848,100 (4) 5.4%
SEEPHEN P. JEITEIY ... oottt ettt ea s b st eaesaneas 474,523 (5) 2.9%
NIChO1as SOKOIOW ....occviviiiiini et e e e e b er s st eaesrsienesenen 172,600 (6) (7) . *
TENCR COXE ouvviiieitiieetee et ettt e et sa et eb s et eeabe e s aebs e eebesea s esaena s asteseasars seesessessrsannnee 130,174 (8) (%) *
DONALA L. HOUSE....c.oiiiiet ettt ettt st b bbb b b s st e s e abes e 111,249 (10) *
BUItt ERIHCH 1.ttt et bbbt bt cn e 97,250 (11) (12) * :
Nigel P. EKEM c.ooovccoccrreroen, N - (13) *
Directors and current executive officers )
35 8 Group (7 PETSONS) .oovveviiiiiiiniciinenenisenreresenienens O PP UP PP 3,161,496 (14) 19.4%

* Less than one percent.

(1)  The applicable percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 15,827,300 shares of Common Stock outstanding as of March 31, 2003.

(2)  Shares of Common Stock ithat may be acquired by exercise of stock options or warrants within 60 days after April 30, 2003, are deemed
outstanding for purposes of computing the Common Stock beneficially owned and the percentage beneficially owned by the persons holding
these options, but are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage beneficially owned by any other person.

(3)  Includes Mr. Kanders’ options to purchase 21,250 shares of our Common Stock that are presently exercisable or exercisable within the next
60 days. Includes 500,000 unvested shares of restricted Common Stock, which have voting, dividend and other distribution rights. Excludes
options to purchase 1,000/000 shares of Common Stock that are presently unexercisable and unexercisable within the next 60 days.

(4) Based on a Schedule 13G filed by Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. (“Merrill Lynch™) on January 7, 2003. Based on such Schedule 13G the shares
of Common Stock reported above by Merrill Lynch are beneficially owned by Master Small Cap Value Trust, a master-feeder structure for
the Merrill Lynch Small Cap Value Fund, Inc. and the Mercury Small Cap Value Fund, Inc.

(5)  Includes Mr. Jeffery’s options to purchase 363,613 shares of our Common Stock that are presently exercisable or exercisable within the next
60 days. Excludes options to purchase 100,527 shares of Common Stock that are presently unexercisable and unexercisable within the next
60 days.

(6) Includes Mr. Sokolow’s optlons to purchase 21,250 shares of our Common Stock that are presently exercisable or exercisable within the
next 60 days. Excludes opuons to purchase 60,000 shares of Common Stock that are presently unexercisable and unexercisable within the
next 60 days.

(7)  Includes 151,350 shares of our Common Stock held by ST Investors Fund, LLC, of which Mr. Sokolow is the Managing Member.

(8)  Includes Mr. Coxe’s options to purchase 35,000 shares of our Common Stock that are presently exercisable or exercisable within the next 60
days. Excludes options to purchase 60,000 shares of Common Stock that are presently unexercisable and unexercisable within the next 60
days.

(9)  Includes 28,478 shares held individually by Mr. Coxe, 46,929 shares held by Sutter Hill Ventures, a California Limited Partnership, 5,596
shares held by Sutter Hill Entrepreneurs Fund, (AD), L.P., and 14,171 shares held by Sutter Hill Entrepreneurs Fund (QP), L.P. Mr. Coxe is
one of seven managing directors of the general partner of each of Sutter Hill Ventures, a California Limited Partnership, Sutter Hill
Entrepreneurs Fund (AI), L.P. and Sutter Hill Entrepreneurs Fund (QP), L.P. The seven managing directors of the general partners of each
of the above limited partnerships share voting and investment powers of the shares. Mr. Coxe disclaims beneficial interest in these shares
except to the extent of his pecuniary interest in each limited partnership.

(10) Includes Mr. House’s options to purchase 35,000 shares of our Common Stock that are presently exercisable or exercisable within the next
60 days. Excludes optlons\to purchase 60,000 shares of Common Stock that are presently unexercisable and unexercisable within the next
60 days.

(11) Includes Mr. Ehrlich’s options to purchase 21,250 shares of our Common Stock that are presently exercisable or exercisable within the next
60 days. Excludes optionsito purchase 60,000 shares of Common Stock that are presently unexercisable and unexercisable within the next
60 days.

(12) Includes 13,000 shares of our Common Stock held by a trust for the benefit of Mr. Ehrlich’s children.

58



(13) Excludes options to purchase 200,000 shares of Common Stock that are presently unexercisable and unexercisable within the next 60 days.

(14) Includes options to purchase 497,363 shares of our Common Stock that are presently exercisable or exercisable within the next 60 days.
Also includes 500,000 unvested shares of restricted Common Stock, which have voting, dividend and other distribution rights. Excludes
options to purchase 1,540,527 shares of Common Stock that are presently unexercisable and unexercisable within the next 60 days.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

In 2003, we entered into an oral agreement with Kanders & Company pursuant to which we sublease approximately 1,989 square
feet in Greenwich, Connecticut for $9,572 a month (subject to increases every three years). The agreement provides for a one-year
term and Clarus has the option to renew for up to nine additional one-year terms. Under the terms of the agreement, we are required to
pay approximately $325,000 in build-out construction costs, fixtures, equipment and furnishings related to preparation of the space. In
the event Clarus was to undergo a change in control, our remaining rent through the tenth anniversary of the commencement of the
agreement would immediately accelerate and the present value of such rent would be placed in escrow for the benefit of Kanders &
Company. In January 2003, Clarus obtained a standby letter of credit in the amount of $118,345 to secure lease obligations for the
Greenwich, Connecticut facility that is being constructed. Kanders & Company reimburses Clarus a pro rata portion of the $3,000
annual cost of the letter of credit. Kanders & Company is owned and controlled by Clarus’ Executive Chairman of the Board of
Directors, Warren B. Kanders.

After the closing of the sale of our electronic commerce software business, Steven Jeffery stepped down as Clarus’ Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors. Under Mr. Jeffery's employment agreement, he is entitled to receive a
severance payment equal to one year's salary of $250,000, payable over one year. In addition, Mr. Jeffery entered into a three-year
consulting agreement with Clarus’ and will receive total consideration of $250,000 payable over the two-year term.

During December 2002, Clarus reimbursed legal fees and other expenses in the amount of $531,343 incurred by Warren B.
Kanders, Burtt R. Ehrlich, and Nicholas Sokclow, all of whom are members of Clarus’ Board of Directors, in connection with their
successful solicitation of proxies for the May 21, 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

On November 1, 2001, Clarus engaged E.Com Consulting to perform market research and provide recommendations concerning
the needs and opportunities associated with Clarus’ settlement product. E.Com Consulting subcontracted with e-RM International, Inc.
(“e-RMI”) to assist with a portion of this project. e-RMI is a Delaware corporation whose sole shareholder is Chrismark Enterprises
LLC. Chrismark Enterprises LLC is owned by Mark Johnson, a former director of Clarus and his wife. The contract period of the
engagement was November 1, 2001 through January 31, 2002 for which Clarus agreed to pay total professional fees of $50,000 plus
out-of-pocket expenses. Of this amount, $7,805 was paid to e-RMIL.  Clarus expensed a total of $42,164 in connection with the
engagement during 2001 and had a balance due E.Com of $34,359 at December 31, 2001 that is included in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet in the annual report. The contract was terminated by Clarus during January 2002.
No expense was incurred during 2002 and all amounts due E.Com were paid in January, 2002. At the May 21, 2002 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders, Mr. Johnson was not re-elected as a director of Clarus.

On February 7, 2002, Todd Hewlin joined Clarus’ Board of Directors. Mr. Hewlin is a managing director of The Chasm Group,
LLC, a consultancy organization focusing on helping technology companies develop and implement strategies that create and sustain
market leadership positions for their core products while building shareholder value and a sustainable competitive advantage. During
2001, Clarus engaged The Chasm Group to assist Clarus on various strategic and organizational issues. The contract period of the
engagement was November 15, 2001 through February 15, 2002 for which the Company agreed to professional fees of $225,000 plus
out-of-pocket expenses. Clarus expensed a total of $145,000 during 2002 that is included in general and administrative in the
consolidated statement of operations in the annual report and expensed $131,000 during 2001. Clarus expensed an additional $54,000,
outside the original engagement, during 2002 related to further services performed by The Chasm Group that is included in general
and administrative in the consolidated statement of operations in the annual report in the annual report. At the May 21, 2002 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, Mr. Hewlin was not re-elected as a director of Clarus.

In the opinion of management, the rates, terms and considerations of the transactions with the related parties described above
approximate those that Clarus would have received in transactions with unaffiliated parties.

ITEM 14. PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS

Within 90 days prior to the date of filing of this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of the Company's officers performing the function of principal executive officer (the “Principal Executive Officer”) and
the principal financial officer (the “Principal Financial Officer”), of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Based on this evaluation, the Principal Executive
Officer and Principal Financial Officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective for gathering,
analyzing and disclosing the information the Company is required to disclose in the reports it files under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. The Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial
Officer also concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to matenal
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information relating to the Company required to be included in the Company’s periodic SEC filings. In connection with the new rules,
the Company is in the process of further reviewing and documenting its disclosure controls and procedures, including its internal
controls and procedures for financial reporting, and may from time to time make changes designed to enhance their effectiveness and
to ensure that the Company's systems evolve with its business.

There have been no significant changes in the Company's internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect
internal controls subsequent to the date of this evaluation.

PART 1V
iTEM 15, EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
Financial Statements, Financial Statement Schedules and Exhibits
(a) Financial Statement Schedule

(1) Index to Financial Statements
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(2) Schedule Il Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

We filed a Form 8-K on December 23, 2002, announcing that we consummated the sale of substantially all of the assets of our
electronic commerce business to Epicor Sofiware Corporation. On October 18, 2002, we filed a Form 8-K announcing the sale
of the electronic commerce business to Epicor.

(c) Exhibits.

Exhibit

Number Exhibit .

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 3.1 to Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-63535)).

32 Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 9.1 to the Company's 10-Q filed on August 14, 2000).

33 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-63535)).

3.4 Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company.

4.1 | See Exhibits 3.1,3.2, 3.3, and 3.4 for provisions of the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company defining rights of the holders of
Common Stock of the Company. .

4.2 Specimen Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 9.1 to Company's Registration

Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-46685)).
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Exhibit
Number

10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7 .
10.8
10.9

10.10

10.11-
10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

Exhibit

Lease Agreement between the Company and Technology Park/Atlanta, Inc. dated July 24, 1998
{(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18 to the Company's Form S-4 Registration Statement
(File No. 333-63535)).

Assignment and Assumption of Leases between Technology Park/Atlanta, Inc. and Metropolitan Life
Insurance Company dated July 24, 1998 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.18 to the
Company's Form S-4 Registration Statement (File No. 333-63535)).

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 17, 2002, between Epicor Software Corporation and
the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on
October 18, 2002). o

Bill of Sale and Assumption Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2002, between Epicor Software
Corporation and the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.2 to the Company's
Form 8-K filed on October 18, 2002). '

Trademark Aésignment dated as of December 6, 2002, by the Company in favor of Epicor Software
Corporation, (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.3 to the Company's Form &-K filed on
October 18, 2002).

Patent Assignment, dated as of December 6, 2002, between Epicor Software Corporation and the
Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.4 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on
October 18, 2002).

Noncompetition Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2002, between Epicor Software orporation and
the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.5 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on
October 18, 2002),

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2002, between Epicor Software Corporation
and the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.7 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on
October 18, 2002).

Escrow Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2002, between Epicor Software Corporation, the
Company and Branch Bank & Trust Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.8 to
the Company's Form 8-K filed on October 18, 2002).

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Executive Officers of the Company,
(incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Form 8-K filed on December 23, 2002).

Employment Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2002, between the Company and Warren B.
Kanders (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on
December 23, 2002).*

Employment Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2002, between the Company and Nigel P. Ekern.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form §-K filed on December 23,
2002).*

Consulting Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2002, between the Company and Stephen P. Jeffery
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on December 23,
2002).* o

Amended and Restated Stock Incenﬁvé Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2000). *

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incoqﬁorated by reference from Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Form
10-Q filed on August 14, 2000). *
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Exhibit

Number

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

211
23.1
99.1

99.2

Exhibit

Global Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 104 to the
Company's Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2000). *

Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company's Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2000). *

Stock Incentive Plan of Software Architects International, Limited (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 2.2 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on June 13, 2000). *

2000 Declaration of Amendment to Software Architects International Limited Stock Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.3 to the Company's Form 8-K filed on June 13, 2000). *

1992 Stock Option Plan, effective November 22, 1992 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2
to Company's Registration on Form S-1 (File No. 333-46685)). *

Amendment to 1992 Stock Option Plan. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company's Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2000). *

List of Subsidiaries.
Independent Auditors' Consent.
Independent Auditors' Report on Financial Statement Schedule.

Certifications pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CLARUS CORPORATION

Date: March 31, 2003
By: /s/ Nigel P. Ekem
Nigel P. Ekern
Chief Administrative Officer

Signature

/s/ Nigel P. Ekern

Nigel P. Ekern

/s/ Gregory D. Fletcher

Gregory D. Fletcher

Title
Chief Administrative Officer

(principal executive officer)

Chief Accounting Officer
(principal financial officer)

March 31, 2003

March 31, 2003

/s/ Warren B. Kanders Director March 31, 2003
Warren B. Kanders

/s/ Stephen P. Jeffery Director March 31, 2003
Stephen P. Jeffery

/s/ Donald L. House Director March 31, 2003
Donald L. House

/s/ Tench Coxe Director March 31, 2003
Tench Coxe

/s/ Burtt R. Ehrlich Director March 31, 2003
Burtt R. Ehrlich

/s/ Nicholas Sokolow Director March 31, 2003

Nicholas Sokolow
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Schedule I1

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Clarus Corporation and Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts, Valuation Allowance for Deferred
Income Tax Assets and Restructuring and Related Charges

Charged
Balance at (Credited) to
Beginning of Costs and
Period Expenses
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
2000 $271,000 $5,824,000
2001 3,870,000 5,537,000
2002 636,000 (560,000)
Valuation Allowance for Deferred Income Tax Assets
2000 $11,964,000 $20,779,000
2001 32,743,000 27,272,000
2002 60,015,000 1,283,000
Restructuring Accruals
2001 $0 $4,157,000
2002 1,889,000 8,550,000

Dedugtions (a)

$2,225,000
8,771,000
(510,000)

50
0
0

$2,268,000
9,375,000

Balance at
End of
Period

$3,870,000
636,000
586,000

$32,743,000
60,015,000
61,298,000

$1,889,000
1,064,000

(a) Deductions related to the allowance for doubtful accounts represent the write-off of uncollectible accounts receivable balances
against the allowance ffor doubtful accounts, net of recoveries. Deductions related to restructuring and related accruals represent

cash payments.
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CORPORATE
INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Warren B. Kanders
Executive Chairman of the
Company

Stephen P. leffery
Former Chairman, CEO and
President of the Company

Tench Coxe
Managing Director
Sutter Hill Ventures

Donald L. House
Financial Consuliant

Burtt R. Ehrlich
Consultant

Nicholas Sokolow
Partner

Sokolow, Dunaud, Mercadier &
Carrera

MANAGEMENT

Warren B. Kanders
Executive Chairman

Nigel P. Ekern
Chief Administrative Officer

Gray Hudkins

Director - Corporate Development

Susan Luckfield
Controlier

STOCKHOLDER
INFORMATION

HEADQUARTERS

Ciarus Corporation
One Pickwick Plaza
Ist Floor

Greenwich, CT 06830
(203} 302-2000

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT
Nige! P. Ekern

(203) 302-2000
nekern@claruscorp.com

STOCK LISTING

The Company's common
stock is traded on the
NASDAQ stock market under
the symbol CLRS.

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT
American Stock Transfer &
Trust Co.

4201 15" Avenue, 3¢ Floor
Brooklyn, NY 11219

INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
KPMG LLP

303 Peachtree Street, NE
Atlanta, GA 30308

LEGAL COUNSEL

Kane Kessler, P.C.

1350 Ave. of the Americas
New York, NY 10019

FOorm 10-K

Stockholders may obtain
without charge a copy of the
Company's 2002 10-K, as
amended, at
www.claryscorp.com, or upon
request to Nigel P. Ekern at the
corporate address.

ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of
Stockholders will be held at
10:00 am on Thursday, July 24,
2003, at The Metropolitan
Club. One East 460 Street,
New York, NY 10022. Detailed
information about the meeting
is contained in the Notice of
Annual Meeting and Proxy
Statement sent with a copy of
this Annual Report.

MARKET PRICES

Current prices for Clarus
common stock can be viewed
at www.claruscorp.com. No
cash dividends have been
declared.

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking statements related to our future resulfs, including regarding our
redeployment strategy. Assumptions relating to forward-iooking statements involve judgments with respect to, among other
things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and future business decisions, afl of which are difficult or
impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond our conirol. When used in this Annual Report, the words
‘intend." "believe" and "expect” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. In light of the
significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking information included in this letter, you should not regard the inclusion of
such information as our representation that we will achieve any strafegy, objectives or other plans.

CLARUS
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